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The PMSA owns four great Queensland 
independent schools – Brisbane Boys’ 
College, Clayfield College, Somerville 
House and Sunshine Coast Grammar 
School.

Built on strong Christian values, PMSA schools provide 
young people from Pre-Prep to Year 12 with an 
outstanding education and values for life.

The PMSA Group was established in 1918 and is a  
joint mission of the Uniting Church of Australia,  
Queensland Synod and the Presbyterian Church  
of Queensland.  

Commemorating 100 years in education in 2018, the 
PMSA today plays a vital role in setting the direction 
of our four schools. The Group supports the schools, 
provides overarching governance and is the connecting 
link between the schools and the two churches.

Each PMSA school is unique and individual, but shares 
and is guided by our ecumenical values – relationships, 
care, ethics, personal development, excellence  
and celebration. 

PMSA schools also share their knowledge and expertise 
with each other to enhance the educational experience 
for students across all schools.

100 YEARS IN EDUCATION
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Commemorating 100 years in education in 2018, the 
PMSA today plays a vital role in setting the direction of 

our four schools. The Group supports the schools, provides 
overarching governance and is the connecting link 

between the schools and the two churches.
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PMSA STUDENT ART 
COMPETITION
To mark the occasion of the PMSA’s 100 
years in 2018, the Group invited students 
at PMSA schools to enter the inaugural 
PMSA Art Competition. Students were 
asked to provide a bold and bright 
interpretation of the PMSA’s values and 
winners in four categories were judged 
at each school. 

PMSA SCHOOL TEACHERS AND 
STAFF RECOGNISED 
On World Teachers’ Day in October, 
the PMSA said thank you to all of 
our wonderful staff in our schools. 
Celebrating at functions in each school, 
the PMSA gave each staff member a 
small gift as a token of appreciation.

BBC HEADMASTER COMMISSIONED
The ninth Headmaster of Brisbane Boys’ 
College Paul Brown was commissioned 
in February 2018 by PMSA Chairman Greg 
Adsett in a moving ceremony led by BBC 
Chaplain Rev. Graham Cole.

2018 GROUP HIGHLIGHTS 

2018 TEACHER EDUCATION 
SCHOLARSHIPS ANNOUNCED
Three past students were awarded 
PMSA Teacher Education Scholarships 
in January 2018. Caitlin Caldwell from 
Clayfield College (2013 – 2017), Laura 
Campbell from Sunshine Coast Grammar 
School (2006 – 2016), and Genevieve 
Laverty from Somerville House (2015 – 
2017) will each receive $2000 per year 
starting in 2018 for up to four years as 
they undertake their teaching degrees.

PMSA STAFF INDUCTION 
One hundred and twenty new PMSA staff 
from all four schools gathered at Clayfield 
College in early January. Immersing 
themselves in an induction day, staff 
heard about the role the PMSA plays in 
the school community and collaborated 
with peers to support our students’ 
learning through 2018  
and beyond.

GOVERNANCE REVIEW 
The PMSA commenced a formal 
governance review with the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors. This 
process was designed to allow a wide 
range of stakeholders to contribute and 
shape the governance of the PMSA Group 
going forward.  

PMSA BOARD APPOINTMENTS
The PMSA Board progressively welcomed 
six new members throughout the first half 
of 2018 – Margaret Berry, Greg Braithwaite, 
Mark Gray, Wayne Knapp, Morgan Parker 
and Jennifer Radbourne. 

NEW AQUATIC CENTRE OPENED 
The Sunshine Coast Grammar School 
community celebrated the realisation 
of a long-held dream with the grand 
opening of the Grammar Aquatic Centre 
in April. The centre boasts world class 
facilities including a 10 lane 50 metre 
FINA-certified heated swimming pool,  
an enclosed 17 metre learn to swim 
pool, an undercover grandstand seating 
for 700 visitors, a private function area, 
and a café.

COMMUNITY CONSULTATION ON 
GOVERNANCE
The PMSA held public community 
forums at each school to discuss 
governance issues. 

BOARDER SUPPORT AT BEEF 
AUSTRALIA
The PMSA’s three boarding schools – 
Brisbane Boys’ College, Clayfield College 
and Somerville House – showcased what 
boarding has to offer at Beef Australia in 
Rockhampton in May, the largest beef 
expo in Australia. The PMSA Group was 
proud to support the sister / brother 
schools who joined together to host a 
luncheon for current and future families 
from all the boarding schools to get to 
know each other.

SOMERVILLE HOUSE PRINCIPAL 
APPOINTED
With values, a vision and passion that 
align closely to those of Somerville 
House, Kim Kiepe was appointed the 
12th Principal of Somerville House in 
May 2018 commencing in January 2019. 

JANUARY FEBRUARY MARCH APRIL MAY JUNE

PMSA’S 100TH ANNUAL  
GENERAL MEETING  
The PMSA’s 100th Annual General 
Meeting was held at Somerville House 
on 25 June where Chairman Greg Adsett 
reviewed the 2017 year for the PMSA 
Group and each of the PMSA schools and 
focussed on the Group’s plans for 2018 
and the years ahead. 

GOVERNANCE REFORMS 
ANNOUNCED
Following the recent governance 
review, the PMSA Board announced 
reform plans to implement the broad-
ranging recommendations provided 
by the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors.  

DROUGHT RELIEF
Staff and students at all PMSA schools 
conducted many activities to raise 
funds for struggling farmers in drought- 
stricken areas. To assist, the PMSA 
pledged $1000 to each PMSA school’s 
drought relief efforts. 

PMSA COMMITTED TO JOIN THE 
NATIONAL REDRESS SCHEME
The PMSA committed to join the 
Federal Government’s National 
Redress Scheme in November to 
allow people who were abused in the 
care of any of our PMSA schools to 
apply to the Scheme for redress. The 
National Redress Scheme provides 
acknowledgement and support to 
people who experienced institutional 
child sexual abuse.

JULY AUGUST SEPTEMBER OCTOBER NOVEMBER DECEMBER

BBC SCHOOL CHAIRMAN AND 
PMSA BOARD MEMBER RETIRED
Long-standing PMSA Board Member 
Jackie McPherson retired as both 
Brisbane Boys’ College (BBC) Council 
Chairman and PMSA Board Member on 
31 December 2018. PMSA Board Member 
and BBC Old Collegian Mark Gray 
replaced her as BBC Council Chairman.

PMSA COMMEMORATED 100 
YEARS
The PMSA commemorated and 
celebrated the PMSA’s history and 
achievements over the past 100 years 
at an event in December which also 
commissioned new CEO Sharon Callister 
and farewelled both long-serving PMSA 
Board Member and BBC School Council 
Chairman Jackie McPherson and 
Somerville House interim Principal Ness 
Goodwin.

NEW PMSA GROUP 
CONSTITUTION
In December, following significant 
consultation and collaboration between 
the two Churches and the PMSA Board, 
the rewritten PMSA Constitution was 
released. 

YEAR 12 OP RESULTS
Year 12 students at all four of the 
PMSA’s schools performed well in the 
2018 OP Scores which were released in 
December. 

FOUNDING MEMBERS 
CELEBRATED ISQ 50 YEARS
Independent Schools Queensland 
(ISQ) celebrated 50 years of dedicated 
advocacy and service to the 
independent schools sector on 18 July. 
Records show 27 independent secondary 
schools attended the first meeting, 
including PMSA schools Brisbane Boys’ 
College, Clayfield College and  
Somerville House. 

GROUP CEO COMMENCED
Sharon Callister commenced as CEO 
of the PMSA Group on 21 August. With 
credentials in organisational change 
and culture development, building 
relationships and trust, as well as finance 
and operational management, Sharon 
Callister will lead the Group through the 
next phase of continuous improvement 
and change.
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FROM THE PMSA CHAIRMAN AND  
THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

In 1918, the PMSA was established by forward-thinking, ecumenically-minded leaders 
from the Presbyterian and Methodist Churches. Now 100 years old, there are few 
organisations within our sector that can claim this longevity in operating such a vital 
Christian mission. 

We commemorate this achievement but are also keen 
and ready to do more in our next 100 years.

During 2018, we had the opportunity to celebrate a 
number of remarkable achievements. We also had 
the opportunity to reflect on areas where our recent 
performance did not meet our own expectations or 
those of our stakeholders. On behalf of the PMSA Board, 
we would like to apologise to our staff, parents, past 
and current students and broader community for the 
upheaval these events caused and commit to changing 
the PMSA and our governance for a strong future.  

During 2018, our renewed PMSA Board and revitalised 
and enhanced Corporate Office team has been working 
to transform the PMSA Group, to rebuild trust, to 
improve accountability and to increase transparency.

We are excited with our progress so far. But more so, 
after such a difficult period for all we are heartened 
by the positive feedback we have received from our 
staff, our parents and greater community regarding 
the Group’s new direction and our achievements 
to date. Whilst we have much more to do, we are 
uncompromising in our approach, yet optimistic that 
we are absolutely on track.

Early in the year, we embarked on a governance review 
with the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 
The review was considered by many as extremely 
comprehensive that sought significant  
stakeholder input. 

Following the review, community forums and the 
subsequent governance reforms announcement, we 
marked the change in direction with the appointment 
of our first ever PMSA Chief Executive Officer. This 

appointment was a significant step in marking our 
commitment to reform and doing things differently. 

The early achievements and benefits are already being 
seen during the second half of 2018, with rapid progress 
in implementing our governance reform agenda and 
the beginning of developing the new 2019 – 2023 PMSA 
Strategic Plan.

In commencing the strategic planning process, 
the Board was acutely aware that our plan should 
set expectations from a strategic and overarching 
perspective for the Group rather than focussing on 
initiatives at school level.

Following the introduction of Gonski 2.0, we are 
leveraging advice and research from local and global 
experts in education to create opportunities that 
respond to today’s challenges and highlight initiatives 
that anticipate future change.

In December, a reshaped, more contemporary PMSA 
Constitution was approved and implemented. The 
PMSA gratefully acknowledges the support and 
direction provided by the Presbyterian Church 
Queensland and the Uniting Church of Australia 
(Queensland Synod) in working together to develop 
this important document that will guide our future 
direction.

The PMSA Board was refreshed during the year with six 
new members welcomed and a number of members 
retiring, most notably Jackie McPherson after 27 years 
of distinguished service. School Councils are also in the 
process of being refreshed. 

Our four great schools – Brisbane Boys’ College, 
Clayfield College, Somerville House and Sunshine Coast 
Grammar – all performed strongly during 2018, and this 
report will provide important details. The PMSA is proud 
to support each school in many ways, but particularly 
with our Highly Accomplished Teacher (HAT) and 
‘Lead’ teacher recognition program, the Indigenous 
Scholarship program and our past students’ Teacher 
Education Scholarships program. Details of these 
popular initiatives and others, including the 2018 PMSA 
Art Competition, can be found later in this report.

Jeremiah 29: 11 says ‘For I know the plans I have for you 
declares the Lord, plans to prosper you and not harm 
you, plans to give you hope and a future’. 

As the PMSA moves into 2019 we reflect through prayer  
on this verse as we fully commit to our new strategic 
direction. Leveraging our collective strength and 
experience, we will provide world-class educational 
opportunities within a values-based Christian 
environment. 

We look forward to the year ahead.

Greg Adsett  Sharon Callister
Chairman  Chief Executive Officer

Leveraging our collective strength  
and experience, we will provide world-class  

educational opportunities within a values-based  
Christian environment. 



8 PMSA 2018 ANNUAL REPORT 9PMSA 2018 ANNUAL REPORT

MISSION, VISION & VALUES

MISSION

The PMSA’s mission is to provide outstanding teaching 
and learning environments for our students and staff, 
in schools built on the teachings and examples of Jesus 
Christ. Our focus is to enable students to discover and 
then develop their God-given talents. Our aim is for 
students to achieve personal excellence, live a fulfilling 
and satisfying life and make a meaningful contribution 
to family and society.

DRIVEN BY OUR VISION

The PMSA’s vision is to build caring school communities, 
by providing world-class teaching and learning 
environments of excellence, permeated by Christian 
faith and actions.
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CELEBRATION 
We collectively recognise and  
celebrate our own and others’  
achievements and milestones. 

RELATIONSHIPS 
We strive to form binding,  
constructive relationships  

based on faith, love,  
compassion and 

 forgiveness.

CARE 
We care for our people. We seek and  

provide a safe environment for growth  
and development, where we can  

respect ourselves and the  
needs of others. 

ETHICS 
We encourage the building of  
strong ethical standards based  

on truth and integrity.

PERSONAL  
DEVELOPMENT  

We foster resilience, where we learn  
from our mistakes and successes, and  

seek continuous improvement and  
self management.

GUIDED BY OUR VALUES

PMSA schools play an important role in providing an outstanding education and guiding young people with 
values for life. 

Founded on strong Christian values – relationships, care, ethics, personal development, excellence and celebration 
– each PMSA school is unique and individual, but shares with each other their collective values as well as their 
knowledge and expertise to enhance the educational experience across all schools.    

RELATIONSHIPS 
Embracing hands represent the developing 
relationships with people based on faith, love, 
compassion and forgiveness.

 

WHAT DOES THE PMSA CREST MEAN? 

The PMSA crest is made up of a number of different elements. At the centre of the 
shield is a lamp on a stand. Light has always been associated with knowledge, and for 
centuries a lighted oil lamp has been used as a symbol for academic learning. 

For Christians, the lamp takes on additional significance as a metaphor for the gospel, 
most notably, Psalm 119:105 says ‘Your word is a lamp to my feet and a light to my 
path’. The surrounding shield represents protection and strength.

Above the shield is an open book which represents the manifestation of learning 
and also represents the Bible. The Southern Cross sits across the book indicating the 
PMSA’s focus on education in the southern hemisphere.

The PMSA’s motto below the shield ‘Pro Civitate Bene Fundata’ is Latin for ‘Firmly 
founded for the good of the State’ or ‘For the Good of the Community’.

EXCELLENCE 
We aspire to achieve excellence  
and encourage each person to  

reach their potential.

WHAT DO THE VALUES ICONS MEAN? 

CARE 
The heart symbolises the care we provide for 
others. 

CELEBRATION 
The symbol for celebration is represented 
by fireworks to recognise our individual and 
collective milestones.

EXCELLENCE 
Excellence is represented by an award that 
encourages our people to reach awaiting 
potential.

 

ETHICS 
The symbol for ethics is represented by Awen, 
the Celtic symbol of truth.

PERSONAL DEVELOPMENT 
The symbol for personal development is 
represented by the Celtic triskelion symbol for 
personal growth. 
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100 YEARS OF HISTORY 

Established in 1918 to ‘carry on schools where pupils may obtain a sound classical 
mathematical, scientific and general education’, the PMSA is a joint mission of the 
Uniting Church of Australia (Queensland Synod) and the Presbyterian Church of 
Queensland. 

The idea of the joint mission of the two Churches formed in late 1917 when two significant events occurred. 
Concerned with high costs of maintenance of their growing school, the co-Principals of the Brisbane High School 
for Girls (Somerville House) agreed to consider a proposal by the Methodist Church to purchase the school.

At the same time, the Presbyterian Church was considering the possible purchase of Clayfield College, later to be 
renamed Brisbane Boys’ College.

This marked the beginning of 100 years of ecumenical co-operation in Queensland education between the 
Presbyterian and Methodist Churches in Queensland where ownership and control of the schools was vested in an 
independent council – the PMSA.

To consider the purchase, the two Churches established a Council comprising eight members. Together, this 
Council drew up a Constitution and the Presbyterian and Methodist Schools Association was born. The Churches 
established a PMSA Council or board of directors and each appointed 12 elected members. On 1 July 1918 a formal 
transfer of ownership of the two schools took place.

The inaugural ceremony was held in the Brisbane Exhibition Hall on 22 July 1918 and the official statement from the 
PMSA, in part, said:

The education of our young people is to us a matter of  
vital concern and we felt we ought to be doing more than  

we have done to surround them with influences which would 
help to strengthen their Christian faith and to form in them 

Christian character. We seek no assistance ….. from anyone save 
from those who think with us and are friends of education  

and of the Christian way.

For the start of the school year in 1920, the PMSA relocated the Brisbane High School for Girls from leased premises 
in Wickham Terrace to the newly-purchased property Cumbooquepa at South Brisbane. At the same time, 
the school was renamed Somerville House after distinguished female scientist Mary Somerville and to prevent 
confusion and distinguish it from the Brisbane State High School which was to be built in nearby Vulture Street. 

The composition of the PMSA Board has changed over time. In early years, members of the clergy tended to 
predominate. But towards the latter part of the century, lay members have been in the majority to ensure a balance 
of skills, experience and qualifications on the Board.

The PMSA and our schools have made a major contribution to Christian education in Queensland. The reason the 
original 1918 joint venture has been successful is largely because of the dedication of the men and women who 
have served the cause so faithfully and well over so many years. This dedication continues, giving confidence for the 
continued success of the Group’s work and our schools.

In 2018, the PMSA commemorated 100 years of providing an outstanding education and guiding young people 
with values for life. In a new era of education, the PMSA continues to work hard to evolve and change for the future 
benefit of all schools.

1917
13 DECEMBER 1917

The Presbyterian and Methodist  
Churches in Queensland meet  

formally to ‘consider the purchase of  
the Brisbane High School for Girls and  

Clayfield College’.

1 JULY 1918
The formal transfer of ownership of  

the two schools takes place. Originally the  
PMSA Council consists of 24 members,  

six laymen and six clergy from  
each church.

1920
The PMSA relocates the Brisbane  
High School for Girls from leased  
premises in Wickham Terrace to  
the newly-purchased property  

Cumbooquepa at South Brisbane  
and renames the school Somerville  
House. The PMSA renames Clayfield  
College to Brisbane Boys’ College.

1930

1918

The PMSA moves Brisbane Boys’  
College from Clayfield to larger  

purchased grounds at Toowong.

World War II begins to have impact  
on Brisbane and our PMSA schools.  

Somerville House is taken over for use  
by the United States Military. The PMSA  

also provides 50 per cent bursaries  
to children of military families who  
have been evacuated to Australia  

from Asian countries. 

1964
The first full-time Chaplain Rev.  

Ken Hooper is appointed at  
Brisbane Boys’ College, while Rev.  

Neville Eckersley and Rev. Harry West  
are appointed full-time Chaplains at  

Somerville House and Clayfield College 
respectively in 1977. David Hicks is  

appointed full-time Chaplain at Sunshine  
Coast Grammar School in 2006.

The PMSA becomes a founding  
member of what is now known as  

Independent Schools Queensland, which  
promotes and supports the interests of  

the independent school sector. 

1968

1942

The PMSA re-establishes Clayfield College  
as a primary and kindergarten school  

for girls and boys.

1931

The first woman is appointed  
to the PMSA Board.

1970

The first indigenous girl attends a  
PMSA school at Clayfield College.  
The PMSA now offers Indigenous  
Scholarships to all PMSA schools. 

1971
Parental involvement becomes greater  

in running of schools with several  
parents joining the PMSA Board.  

MID 1970S

1977
The Uniting Church is created after  

three denominations – the Congregational  
Union in Australia, the Methodist Church  

of Australasia, and the Presbyterian Church  
of Australia – join together. The Uniting  

Church and the continuing Presbyterian  
Church become the two appointed  
churches of the PMSA. After much  

deliberation, the PMSA retains  
the original name.

1986
The PMSA repays all monies the  
Churches lent since the creation  

of the PMSA.

The PMSA Board accepts a  
statement of religious and educational  

aims for the PMSA.

1987
The PMSA undertakes the first  

governance review and grants a  
greater degree of independence and  

autonomy to the renamed School  
Councils. There have been four further  
reviews of the PMSA’s governance with 
recommended changes implemented.

2001

The PMSA establishes the Abuse  
Reference Committee to deal  
with the allegations by former  

students of abuse whilst at school.  

The PMSA purchases Sunshine Coast 
Grammar School – a co-educational 

independent school, established in 1997.

2004

The PMSA Corporate Office opens.

2008

2018
The PMSA commemorates 100 years  
of education. Following a governance  

review, the PMSA appoints the first  
Chief Executive Officer, announces  

several governance reforms and  
renames the Council to the PMSA Board.

in education
100 YEARS

1992
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- PILLAR 1 -

EXCELLENCE IN TEACHING  
AND LEARNING

• Promote exceptional education  
outcomes for students.

• Maximise student opportunities.
• Focus on staff development as  

key to quality learning.

STRATEGIC PLAN 2015 – 2018 

The PMSA’s Strategic Plan 2015 – 2018 came to an end with many distinctive 
achievements by the PMSA Group. In late 2018, the PMSA Board began developing the 
Strategic Plan for 2019 – 2023. 

The 2015 – 2018 PMSA Strategic Plan was the Group’s first strategic plan and focussed 
on four key pillars. 

- PILLAR 3 -

SOUND GOVERNANCE AND 
MANAGEMENT

• Continuously improve PMSA and  
School Council governance.

• Continuously improve the management 
performance of PMSA schools.

2018 ACHIEVEMENT HIGHLIGHTS

• The newly-formed PMSA Senior Leadership Group, 
as recommended by the AICD, provided a platform 
for the Group to explore opportunities that will 
provide Group-wide benefits.

• The PMSA corporate office employed a new 
communication role to manage the PMSA brand, 
media relations and stakeholder communication.

• The PMSA held several staff briefings which were 
well received across the school community. 

• The PMSA held governance community forums 
across all four schools. 

• MMG surveys conducted at each school allowed 
parents to provide feedback about the schools as 
well as the PMSA.

2018 ACHIEVEMENT HIGHLIGHTS

• The PMSA engaged the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors (AICD) to conduct an extensive 
governance review. The main objective of this review 
was to build solid governance foundations for the 
future. 

• In late 2017/2018, the PMSA Board was renewed 
with six new members, five new members joined 
School Councils and one new member joined a 
PMSA standing committee. 

• The PMSA began implementing the many AICD 
governance recommendations.

• The PMSA obtained an external review of the 
organisation’s privacy and risk. 

• Following the AICD recommendations, the PMSA 
expanded the Audit and Finance Committee 
responsibilities to include risk and focussed the 
PMSA Board on governance at a Group level. This 
will enable School Councils to govern the schools, 
with each School Council reporting to the  
PMSA Board.

• In 2018, the PMSA Corporate Office appointed a 
CEO and a new team will follow in 2019 to support 
the implementation of the new governance model 
and work more closely with schools to review and 
develop Group policies.

2018 ACHIEVEMENT HIGHLIGHTS

• School houses at Brisbane Boys’ College and 
Clayfield College held family Chapel Services to 
promote relationships among families. 

• PMSA teachers participated in Christian education 
workshops with the Chaplains.

• Chapel or Faith Week was held in schools in Term 3. 
• Chaplains regularly liaised to plan curriculum with 

the Chaplains from all PMSA schools. 
• Schools conducted student wellbeing surveys to 

inform pastoral care programs and parent and 
teacher, and student education. 

• Schools also participated in the state wide 
Independent Schools Queensland (ISQ) Parent 
Survey with the report released in early 2019.

• Chaplains worked together to explore and promote 
the PMSA. 

2018 ACHIEVEMENT HIGHLIGHTS

• Student academic outcomes across all four schools 
in OP and NAPLAN were exceptional. 

• All four PMSA schools have this pillar integrated 
into their own school strategic plans working to 
promote exceptional academic, co-curricular and 
pastoral education outcomes. 

• All schools focussed on ongoing staff training 
and professional development to develop key 
competencies rather than short term results.

• Qualified staff at all schools applied for and 
became recognised in the PMSA Quality Teacher 
Recognition Framework.

• Ongoing discussions were held between Somerville 
House, Brisbane Boys’ College and Clayfield College 
Heads of Curriculum to share approaches to 
planning for new QCE and ATAR.

• Sunshine Coast Grammar School partnered with Dr 
Ian Lilico and Brisbane Boys’ College on a project to 
raise the academic bar for boys. 

• Sell out crowds were achieved for parent workshops 
held at all PMSA schools with well-known Australian 
experts such as Steve Biddulph, Maggie Dent, 
Michael Carr-Gregg, Madonna King and Lea Waters. 

• Many graduating students from all four schools 
were awarded local and international university 
scholarships and early entries based on 
performance. 

• All schools offered students a broad range of 
international travel and learning opportunities as 
well as exchange programs. 

- PILLAR 2 -

A CARING  
CHRISTIAN CULTURE

• Continue to strengthen the Christian 
foundations of PMSA schools.

• Build a nurturing and caring Christian 
environment for students and staff.

- PILLAR 4 -

ENGAGEMENT WITH OUR 
COMMUNITIES

• Explore opportunities for  
operational efficiencies.

• Explore opportunities for growth  
in PMSA schools. 

• Engage and build our reputation  
internally and externally.
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Sunshine Coast Grammar School 2016 graduate Laura 
Campbell was one of four recipients to receive the 
PMSA Teacher Education Scholarship in 2018. 

Laura aspires to be a caring, quality teacher who makes 
a difference by engaging young students in a supportive 
environment like a PMSA school. 

Her wonderfully positive experience with passionate 
teachers at Grammar as well as a long family history of 
teaching ignited her teaching passion.

“I want the kids to love learning so that they can succeed 
and reach their full potential,” said Laura. 

Laura is pursuing her teaching passion studying a 
Bachelor of Education (Early Childhood) at QUT Kelvin 
Grove and initially lived at the Uniting Church’s Raymont 
Lodge Residential College at Auchenflower. 

She’s loving learning the techniques of how to teach 
and is now enjoying the more specialist subjects. She is 
particularly enjoying teaching maths.   

“I have always found maths fun and it brings me the 
most joy. I really love teaching kids maths in a fun way,” 
Laura said. 

Her most recent practical work experience was with a 
Year 2 class at Mitchelton State School.

Laura has very much appreciated the financial 
assistance from the PMSA scholarship while living away 
from home. 

“I chose QUT in Brisbane to study because it is the 
largest preservice teacher education program in 
Australia. However, the campus is two hours from my 
home.”

The PMSA Teacher Education Scholarship and the 
continued support of her parents help to cover Laura’s 
ongoing expenses of accommodation and transport.

“I’m using the scholarship money to buy my textbooks 
and also to collect teaching resources that I know I 
would like to use when I start my teaching career. I have 
seen and used some great resources when I have been 
on my pracs and have been able to purchase them for 
myself with my scholarship funds.” 

Laura hopes to one day work in a school that continues 
the strong Christian values and beliefs that PMSA 
schools foster.

2018 SCHOLARSHIP RECIPIENT 
TAKES OFFFOCUS:

The PMSA is proud of the achievements of Brisbane 
Boys’ College Old Collegian and one of the first PMSA 
Teacher Education Scholarship recipients Edward 
Dobinson who graduated in 2018 from the University 
of Queensland with a Bachelor of Education with 
distinction.

Awarded the PMSA Teacher Education Scholarship in 
2015, Edward achieved a grade point average of 6.0 
and was thrilled to have been offered three graduate 
teaching positions, accepting one at Ironside State 
School at St Lucia teaching Year 5.

In a letter to the PMSA Board, Edward thanked the 
PMSA for the significant assistance and support 
throughout his degree.

“I wish to extend my honest thanks to you for all the 
wonderful and good work you do. There is a community 
who supports the unwavering and often thankless tasks 
you selflessly undertake with Christ’s message of grace, 
hope and peace at heart,” said Edward in his letter.

“During my degree, I was also fortunate to undertake 
a four-week practicum at my old school BBC, under 
the guidance of Julienne Davidson whose outstanding 
professional practice is a credit not only to her, but also 
to the calibre of the educators who are employed by 
you,” said Edward.

Several PMSA Teacher Education Scholarships are 
offered each year to current and past students of PMSA 
schools entering an undergraduate teacher education 
degree course.

The scholarships aim to foster a respect for the 
importance of teaching as a profession, foster Christian 
faith and values in schools and encourage future 
teachers who hold Christian beliefs and values, and 
assist aspiring teachers of Christian conviction to 
complete an approved teacher education program to 
enable them to make a difference in the schools  
they serve.

FOCUS:

I wish to extend my honest thanks to you  
for all the wonderful and good work you 

do. There is a community who supports the 
unwavering and often thankless tasks you 
selflessly undertake with Christ’s message  

of grace, hope and peace at heart.

LAURA CAMPBELL 

EDWARD DOBINSON 

PMSA SCHOLARSHIP RECIPIENT 
GRADUATES WITH DISTINCTION
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Greg Adsett is a PMSA Board Member to serve 
his Church and community. He highly values 
independent education within a Christian context, 
and has extensive experience in governance on 
community, school and Church boards.

Appointed the PMSA Chairman in 2017, Greg 
appreciates the significance of the strategic and 
operational effectiveness that any project must 
possess before it can be undertaken.

PMSA OVERVIEW 

During 2018, the PMSA changed the board of directors’ name from the PMSA Council 
to the PMSA Board. This reduces the confusion between the Group governing body 
and the individual School Councils which govern each PMSA school. 

The year also saw the Board reduce in total number 
from 15 to 13 – five from each Church and three PMSA-
appointed Board Members. In June 2018, the PMSA’s 
Constitution was changed to remove the restriction that 
PMSA-appointed Board Members must be a member of 
the Presbyterian or Uniting Church, allowing members 
to be appointed from other Christian faiths. 

During 2018, the PMSA Constitution underwent 
further significant change with a completely rewritten 
Constitution released in December 2018. 

The 2018 Board saw significant renewal with the 
resignation of Board Member Richard Niessl in February 
and welcoming of six new Board Members throughout 
the year – Margaret Berry, Greg Braithwaite, Mark Gray, 
Wayne Knapp, Morgan Parker and Jennifer Radbourne. 
Long-serving Board Member Jackie MacPherson also 
retired after 27 years on the PMSA Board. 

The PMSA Board thanks Richard Niessl and Jackie 
McPherson for their dedication, contribution and 
commitment to the PMSA during their terms. 

GREG ADSETT 
BARCH, RAIA, GAICD

• PMSA Board Member (first appointed 2011,  
current term until 2020)

• Chairman - PMSA
• Member - PMSA Audit, Finance and  

Risk Committee
• Non-executive director - Grammar Early  

Learning Ltd
• Registered architect
• Director - Elevation Architecture 
• Member - Australian Institute of Architects
• Member - Urban Development Institute of Australia
• Member - Property Council of Australia
• Graduate - Australian Institute of Company 

Directors

Anne Bennett has a significant affiliation and great 
affection for PMSA schools. A former Clayfield 
College School Captain and Dux of the School, 
Anne’s now grown children also benefited from 
the PMSA academic, co-curricular and pastoral 
programs attending Somerville House and Brisbane 
Boys’ College.

Anne has considerable experience in governance 
on not-for-profit boards in the aged care sector, 
education and children services.ANNE BENNETT  

MBBS, MAICD

• PMSA Board Member (first appointed 2011,  
current term until 2021)

• Deputy Chairman - PMSA
• Chairman - Clayfield College Council
• Chairman - Clayfield College Foundation
• Director - PresCare Board
• Director - Peirson Services Board
• Trustee - Ann Street Presbyterian Church Trust
• Medical Practitioner
• Member - AMA and RACGP 
• Member - Ann Street Presbyterian Church
• Member - Australian Institute of Company Directors

Margaret Berry was appointed as a Uniting Church 
representative on the PMSA Board and is currently 
the Principal at Robertson State School.

Margaret has a passion for the education of young 
people and has a long career in the leadership 
of school communities. Her daughter and sisters 
attended Somerville House and extended family 
members attend Brisbane Boys’ College. Margaret 
has worked with school councils for over 10 years.  
She has joined the PMSA Board at a time in her 
career where she feels she can add value and 
support to the PMSA’s work.

Margaret has more than 30 years experience teaching in both primary and secondary schools. Since 1998, 
she has held leadership positions of Head of Department, Deputy Principal and Principal of secondary 
schools and current Principal of a primary school. With a Certificate of Teaching, Bachelor of Arts, a Master 
of Education (Leadership), and a Master of Science, Margaret brings a wealth of educational experience to 
the PMSA Board.

MARGARET BERRY   
BA, MSC, MED  

(LEADERSHIP), MAICD

Greg Braithwaite has a long career in property and 
business both running his own real estate franchise 
as well as holding national and international roles for 
franchise corporate offices.

Greg brings his strong corporate background 
in business planning, strategic thinking, human 
resources, and marketing to the PMSA Board. He 
also believes his knowledge and experience as a P&F 
President at St John’s Anglican College for eight years 
provides him insight to the importance of boards 
being relevant to a school community.

A BBC Old Collegian, Greg is keen to make a contribution in a voluntary capacity. He would like to use his 
strategic planning expertise to help rebuild the reputation and connections with the school communities 
and contribute to making the Board more relevant to the people within the schools.

GREG BRAITHWAITE  

Jim Demack was appointed to the PMSA Board by 
the Uniting Church and believes strongly in giving 
back to the community that he is a part of.

A lawyer and a Brisbane partner of a national law 
firm, Jim brings his legal skills with experience 
in major engineering and infrastructure projects, 
insurance, litigation and commercial law. He has 
a collaborative approach to problem solving in 
dealing with the issues that arise for the  
PMSA Board.

• PMSA Board Member (first appointed 2013, 
current term until 2021)

• Chairman - Somerville House School Council
• Practising solicitor specialising in all aspects of 

construction law, particularly major engineering 
and infrastructure projects, insurance and 
litigation

• Partner - Gadens Lawyers
• Member - Legal Reference Committee, Uniting 

Church Queensland Synod
• Member - Australian Institute of Company 

DirectorsJIM DEMACK   
LLB, LL.M, A.MUS.A, MAICD

• PMSA Board Member (first appointed 2018, current 
term until 2021)

• Member - Somerville House School Council
• Principal - Robertson State School
• Member - Queensland State Primary Principals 

Association
• President - South Branch Queensland Association 

for Gifted & Talented Children
• Member - Queensland College of Teachers
• Member - Uniting Church Schools Commission
• Member - Australian Institute of Company Directors

• PMSA Board Member (first appointed 2018, 
current term until 2021)

• Chairman - Church Board Forest Lake Uniting 
Church

• Chairperson of Congregation - Forest Lake 
Uniting Church

• Member - Bremer Brisbane Presbytery
• President - P&F Association St John’s Anglican 

College
• Licensed Real Estate Agent
• Member - Real Estate Institute of Queensland

Mark is an accomplished company director and 
senior executive, with extensive experience in 
strategic leadership, financial management, 
corporate governance and organisational change 
across corporate, government and community 
organisations.

Mark is a member of the PMSA Board and was 
appointed as Chairman of the Brisbane Boys’ 
College School Council from January 2019. He has 
been a member of the School Council since 2015. A 
BBC Old Collegian, Mark appreciates the benefits of 
a quality education in a Christian environment. He 
is keen to promote the mission and the vision of the 
PMSA through a period of change and renewal.

Mark has an Honorary Doctorate from Griffith 
University and is an Adjunct Professor of Economics 
at the University of Queensland. He was awarded 
a Prime Minister’s Centenary Medal in 2003 for 
services to banking and finance.

• PMSA Board Member (first appointed 2018, 
current term until 2021)

• Member - Brisbane Boys’ College Council
• Fellow - Australian Institute of Company Directors
• Senior Fellow - Financial Services Institute of 

Australia
• Chairman - Sugar Terminals Limited
• Chairman - Queensland Section and Director, 

Federation Board, Royal Flying Doctor Service of 
Australia

• Chairman - Tailored Superannuation Solutions
• Director - Data#3
• Director - Q-Pharm
• Director - Queensland Cricket
• Former Chief Executive of Queensland Treasury, 

Queensland Competition Authority, and the 
Queensland Independent Commission of Audit

• Former Board roles include Griffith University, 
Queensland Treasury Corporation, Airtrain Citylink 
Limited, Queensland Art Gallery, Oaks Hotels and 
Resorts Limited, Urban Futures Brisbane and Max 
Frank (Australia) Pty Ltd

MARK GRAY
DUNIV, B ECON (HONS),  

SF FIN, FAICD

With a Master of Education and almost 20 years 
working as an administrator in post school 
education, Con Graves is passionate about 
education. A Uniting Church-appointed member, 
Con has held positions as a corporate services and 
technology executive leader with the Department 
of Employment, Training and Industrial Relations, a 
Director of Information Services at Griffith University 
and currently sits on the management committee of the Wesley Mission’s Registered  
Training Organisation.

A retired psychologist, Con brings his extensive experience in strategic leadership, change management 
and innovation to the PMSA Board.

• PMSA Board Member (first appointed 2017,  
current term until 2020)

• Member - Somerville House School Council
• Retired psychologist
• Deputy Chairman - Wesley Mission Queensland 
• Associate Member - Institute of Community 

Directors of Australia

CON GRAVES  
BA HONS (PSYCH), GDIPMAN, 

MED, AMICDA

2018 BOARD
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Appointed by the Presbyterian Church, Wayne 
Knapp has more than 20 years experience on 
not-for-profit boards for both the Presbyterian and 
Uniting Churches including Chairman of the Board 
roles at the Wesley Hospital Townsville and PresCare. 
He also served for five years on the St Andrews War 
Memorial Hospital Board during a time of significant 
change. He is currently the Chairman of the 
Presbyterian Church Property Board and a member 
of their Finance and Administration Board.

Looking forward to the challenge of governance change, Wayne has extensive experience in governance, 
risk management and leadership on boards.  A former police officer retiring as an Inspector, Wayne 
is currently in a policy development and administration role for the Presbyterian Church ensuring 
denominational compliance to Work Health and Safety and Child Safety legislation.

WAYNE KNAPP    
PG CERT (APPLIED MGT), PG 
DIP (BUS ADMIN), PG CERT 

(BUS ADMIN)

• PMSA Board member (first appointed 2018, current 
term until 2021)

• Member - Sunshine Coast Grammar School Council
• Retired police officer
• Chairman - Property Board, Presbyterian Church of 

Queensland 
• Member - Finance and Administration Board, 

Presbyterian Church of Queensland

Helen Murray is a Chief Information Officer and is 
passionate about providing high quality education 
in a Christian environment. After winning several 
IT awards, Helen’s interest in giving back to the 
community was ignited.

Being a board director with IT experience, Helen 
is inspired by the impact of technology upon the 
education environment and the role of digital 
disruption in ensuring the youth of today are ready 
for tomorrow.

She is driven by the challenge of equity of access 
for rural and remote communities to technology 
and services available in the city. Helen spends a 
lot of her working life in outback Queensland and 
understands the many challenges that living on the 
land poses for some of our PMSA families and is a 
strong advocate for our rural and remote students. 

Helen has more than 30 years’ national and 
international experience in health, rural and remote 
service delivery, technology, government, program 
management and governance.

• PMSA Board Member (first appointed 2014, 
current term until 2020)

• Member - Clayfield College Council 
• Director - Clayfield College Foundation
• Practising Registered Nurse
• Chief Information Officer - Queensland Health
• Member - Australian College of Nursing
• Member - Australian College of Mental Health 

Nursing
• Member - Women in Technology
• Member - Women on Boards
• Member - Australian Institute of Company 

Directors
• Member - Institute of Community Directors 

Australia
• Winner, 2011 Women in IT Award | Professional
• Winner, 2014 Women in IT Award | Outstanding 

ICT Achievement
• 2014 Women in IT | ICT Ambassador

HELEN MURRAY
GRAD CERT IT, BNR, RN, MHN, 

MACN, MACMHN, MAICD

A former practising solicitor, Jackie McPherson 
was appointed as a PMSA Board Member by the 
Presbyterian Church to work for the Lord in its 
schools. With more than 25 years experience on the 
Board, she brings her professional legal skills and a 
strong ability to communicate well both verbally and in 
writing. 

During her career, Jackie developed extensive 
experience with the legislation which governs the 
protection of children in Queensland and contributes 
this knowledge to the PMSA.

• PMSA Board Member (first appointed 1992,  
retired 2018)

• Chairman - Brisbane Boys’ College Council
• Retired solicitor

JACQUELINE 
MCPHERSON  

LLB

Principal of Raymont Residential College at the 
University of Queensland, Richard Niessl was 
previously Chief Operations Officer, ADF Deployable 
Joint Force Headquarters. He has a track record 
of leadership, pastoral care and development 
of young adults. Richard has refined planning, 
operations and administrative management skills, 
extensive academic and research experience, and a 
consistent and passionate commitment to the  
Christian ethos. 

• PMSA Board Member (first appointed 2016, retired 
2018)

• Principal - Raymont Residential College

Morgan Parker’s association with PMSA schools 
spans more than three decades. He attended 
Brisbane Boys’ College, his sister attended Somerville 
House and his daughter is a current Somerville 
House student.  

Professionally, Morgan has a 25 year career as an 
institutional real estate investor, developer and 
banker, completing 65 projects in nine countries.   
He is a recognised philanthropist and has served and continues to serves on many boards including 
commercial, not-for-profit and trade organisations.

Morgan’s passion for PMSA schools’ long standing traditions and PMSA’s role in educating young men 
and women of significance is evident.  He is deeply committed to the PMSA’s mission and preserving the 
PMSA legacy as the important foundation of the schools.

Morgan is also dedicated to community service as a philanthropic adventurer, motivational speaker, 
author, television host and executive producer of the National Geographic Channel documentary series 
‘Wheel2Wheel’.

MORGAN PARKER    
LLB, GAICD

• PMSA Board Member (first appointed 2018, current 
term until 2021)

• Graduate - Australian Institute of Company 
Directors

• Board Member - SunCentral
• Board Member - GARDA Capital Group
• Advisory Board Member - UbiPark

Jennifer Radbourne is an Emeritus Professor and 
retired academic and she is the current Chairman 
of the Sunshine Coast Grammar School Council. 
Jennifer has held teaching and management 
positions in the Faculty of Business at the 
Queensland University of Technology (QUT). Most 
recently, she was Dean and Pro Vice Chancellor, 
Faculty of Arts and Education at Deakin University  
in Melbourne.

Jennifer is a graduate of the AICD and has held 
board positions over 35 years in state and non-profit arts organisations in Queensland. She is also a current 
member of the Sunshine Coast Arts Advisory Board and chairman of the SCGS Foundation.

Jennifer brings her knowledge of management in an educational institution to the PMSA. Her arts 
background, balanced by several years in a business faculty, gives her a creative edge in thinking 
and leading in contemporary governance.  She has published in relationship marketing, non-profit 
governance, strategic management, curriculum development and teaching and learning. Jennifer also 
has a strong interest in international students, having managed a business program in Hong Kong and 
taught and recruited students in China, Vietnam and Indonesia.

JENNIFER 
RADBOURNE    

CERTTEACH, ATCL, LSDA,  
BA, MA, PHD, GAICD

• PMSA Board Member (first appointed 2018, current 
term until 2019)

• Chairman - Sunshine Coast Grammar School 
Council

• Chairman - Sunshine Coast Grammar School 
Foundation

• Member - Sunshine Coast Arts Advisory Board
• Retired academic
• Graduate - Australian Institute of Company 

Directors

Passionate about the provision of quality Christian 
education, Greg Skelton was appointed to the PMSA 
Board to support the mission and vision of the 
Presbyterian Church of Queensland through their 
ministry of education.

Greg’s impressive reputation is backed by his finance 
and logistics background. Also CEO of PresCare, he 
brings leadership, financial and accounting skills, and 
strategic management skills to the PMSA Board.

GREG SKELTON     
B BUS (ACCOUNTING), MBA 

(STRATEGY), CPA, MAICD

• PMSA Board Member (first appointed 2015, current 
term until 2020)

• Chairman - PMSA Audit, Finance and Risk 
Committee

• Member - Australian Institute of Company Directors 
• Certified Practising Accountant
• Member - Finance & Administration Board of the 

Presbyterian Church of Queensland
• Chief Executive Officer - PresCare

Kevin Standish has long-standing connection with 
PMSA schools and with the Presbyterian Church. 
His two daughters attended Clayfield College and 
he was grateful for their excellent education. When 
approached to become a PMSA Board Member, 
Kevin was pleased to have the opportunity to 
give back and allow others to experience the 
opportunities his daughters experienced.

A practising commercial solicitor for 40 years, Kevin is 
now retired and holds several senior board positions 
and brings his governance, legal and corporate 
expertise to the PMSA Board.

 

KEVIN STANDISH

• PMSA Board Member (first appointed 2010, current 
term until 2020)

• Member - Brisbane Boys’ College Council
• Lawyer; former practising solicitor 
• Director - Bridgeport Energy Limited
• Director - Queensland Bulk Handling Pty Ltd
• Member - Albion Rotary Club
• Vice-Chairman - Committee of Management at 

Scots Presbyterian Memorial Church, ClayfieldRICHARD NIESSL
BA(HONS), MA, MMDS
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2018 SCHOOL COUNCILS 

Each of the PMSA schools is run by a separate School Council. In 2018, following the governance review, the maximum 
number of members of each School Council increased from eight to nine members. The composition of these nine 
members also changed, reducing the number of PMSA Board Members on the School Councils from a maximum of 
three to two. 

Each School Council is a committee of the PMSA Board and includes up to two PMSA Board Members and up to five 
independent School Council members appointed from the school’s community. The school’s Principal is an ex-officio 
member and other school staff members including the school’s Business Manager attend meetings when required. 

The following are the School Council members including the Principals at the end of 2018. 

The following table shows PMSA Board Members’ attendance at individual School Council meetings  
throughout 2018. 

BRISBANE BOYS’ COLLEGE COUNCIL 
• Jacqueline McPherson, LLB (Chairman)

• John Down, BEc, MEc

• Mark Gray, BEcon (Hons), GAICD

• Vaughan Henry, BEc, BMaths, DFP

• Helen Murray, GradCert IT, BNr, RN, MACN, MACMHN, MAICD, 

MICDA

• Kevin Standish
• Marion Tower, BN(Hons), MN, PhD

• Paul Brown, BA, MA (Merit) (Uni Syd), Cert HRM (MGSM), 

MACEL, MAHRI – Headmaster

CLAYFIELD COLLEGE COUNCIL
• Anne Bennett, MBBS, MAICD (Chairman)

• Robyn Kronenberg, EMBA, MEd, BSc (Hon), FAICD, FIML 

• Sandra McCullagh, MBA, BSc, BA, GAICD

• Helen Murray, GradCert IT, BNr, RN, MACN, MACMHN, MAICD, 

MICDA

• Michael Ryall, CA, MProfAcc, BHotMgt, GDipAppFin, GAICD

• Kathy Bishop, MEd, BEdSt, BA, GradDipEd, MACE, MACEL, 

MAICD, AFIML – Principal 

SOMERVILLE HOUSE SCHOOL COUNCIL
• Jim Demack, LLB, LLM, A MUS A (Chairman)

• Margaret Berry, BA, MSc, MEd (Leadership), MAICD

• Russell Bird, MBBS (Qld), FRACS, FRCS (Can)

• Con Graves, BA Hons (Psych), GDipMan, MEd, AMICDA

• Peter Thompson, BA (Hons)  
• Ness Goodwin, BA, DipEd, BEdSt, MA, PhD – Principal 

SUNSHINE COAST GRAMMAR SCHOOL COUNCIL 
• Jennifer Radbourne, CertTeach, ATCL, LSDA, BA, MA, PhD, 

GAICD (Chairman)

• John Glaister, BSc (Hons), MSc, PhD (Mar Biol), MBA, PhD (Anth 

Soc), GAICD

• John Hall, BEc, BComm, MBA, FAICD

• Bruce Swan, BBus, ICAA

• Richard Wilkinson, BEd, Cert Ed

• Maria Woods, MEd, BEd, DipT, Cert Residential Care, MAICD, 

MACEL, MACE, AIMM – Principal

BOARD MEMBER
PMSA BOARD

APPOINTMENT & 
REMUNERATION 

COMMITTEE

AUDIT, FINANCE 
AND RISK 

COMMITTEE

EDUCATION & 
PASTORAL CARE 

COMMITTEE

Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended

Greg Adsett 11 11 3 3 6 6 4 4

Anne Bennett 11 11 3 3

Margaret Berry 10 9

Greg Braithwaite 8 6

Jim Demack 11 11 3 3

Con Graves 11 7

Mark Gray 5 3 6 5

Wayne Knapp 10 8 2 2

Helen Murray 11 11

Jacqueline McPherson 11 11 3 3 2 2

Richard Niessl 1 0

Morgan Parker 8 7

Jennifer Radbourne 7 6 1 1

Greg Skelton 11 8 3 1 6 6

Kevin Standish 11 11

BOARD MEMBER

BRISBANE BOYS' 
COLLEGE

CLAYFIELD COLLEGE SOMERVILLE HOUSE
SUNSHINE COAST 

GRAMMAR SCHOOL

Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended

Greg Adsett

Anne Bennett 9 9

Margaret Berry 4 4

Greg Braithwaite

Jim Demack 8 8

Con Graves 8 6

Mark Gray 10 7

Wayne Knapp 4 4

Helen Murray 4 4 9 8

Jacqueline McPherson 10 10

Richard Niessl 1 0

Morgan Parker

Jennifer Radbourne 7 6

Greg Skelton

Kevin Standish 10 10

2018 COMMITTEES 

To assist the PMSA provide quality education services to achieve the PMSA vision, mission and values, three PMSA 
committees provide specialist advice:
• The Appointment and Remuneration Committee, 
• The Audit, Finance and Risk Committee (name changed from Audit and Finance Committee in December 

2018), and 
• The Education and Pastoral Care Committee. 

The following are the PMSA Committee members at the end of 2018. 

 
APPOINTMENT AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
• Greg Adsett, BArch, RAIA, GAICD (Chairman)

• Anne Bennett, MBBS, MAICD

• Greg Skelton, BBus(Accounting), MBA(Strategy), CPA, MAICD

• Jacqueline McPherson, LL.B

• Jim Demack, LL.B, LL.M, A.Mus.A

AUDIT, FINANCE AND RISK COMMITTEE  
• Greg Skelton, BBus(Accounting), MBA(Strategy), CPA, MAICD (Chairman)

• Greg Adsett, BArch, RAIA, GAICD

• Mark Gray, BEcon(Hons), FAICD

EDUCATION AND PASTORAL CARE COMMITTEE
• Greg Adsett, BArch, RAIA, GAICD (Chairman)

• Sarah Blakelock, BN(Hons), LLM(Tax), CTA 

• Bridget Cullen, BA (magna cum laude); JD, LLB, MA, PhD, Grad Cert (Urb&Reg Plan) 

Sarah Blakelock resigned from the Education and Pastoral Care Committee in July 2018 to relocate to the UK and 
Dr Bridget Cullen was appointed to this Committee in March 2018. We thank Sarah Blakelock for her contribution 
throughout her term. 

The following table shows PMSA Board Members’ attendance at PMSA Board and Committee meetings  
throughout 2018. 



24 PMSA 2018 ANNUAL REPORT 25PMSA 2018 ANNUAL REPORT

EXECUTIVE AND CORPORATE OFFICE 

In 2018, the PMSA Corporate Office underwent significant change in structure appointing a Chief Executive Officer 
who commenced in August. Sharon Callister was appointed to lead the PMSA through the Group’s phase of 
change. 

To support the Group’s commitment to contemporary governance and undertake many of the reforms, under 
the CEO’s guidance, the Corporate Office was recalibrated to provide enhanced services and support to the PMSA 
Board and schools. 

During 2018, additional executive capabilities were added to the Corporate Office, including a communication 
role and a temporary project manager to implement the governance reforms. A Chief Financial Officer / Company 
Secretary position was also appointed in late 2018 to commence in early 2019. 

At the end of 2018, the Corporate Office employed a total of six staff in both full-time and part-time roles.

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

The organisational chart below provides an overview of the structure of the PMSA and our relationship  
with our four schools.

PMSA BOARD

Audit, Finance & Risk Committee

Nominations & Human  
Resources Committee

Policy Committee

Sharon Callister, CEO

Group Executive team

SCHOOL STAFF BUSINESS MANAGERS SCHOOL CHAPLAINS

Paul Brown,  
Brisbane Boys' College

Kathy Bishop,  
Clayfield College

Kim Kiepe,  
Somerville Hose

Maria Woods,  
Sunshine Coast Grammar School

SCHOOL COUNCILS

Brisbane Boys' College

Clayfield College

Somerville House

Sunshine Coast Grammar School

SCHOOL PRINCIPALS CORPORATE OFFICE

PMSA COMMITTEES

Following the review, community forums and  
the subsequent governance reforms announcement,  

we marked the change in direction with the appointment  
of our first ever PMSA Chief Executive Officer.  

This appointment was a significant step in marking our 
commitment to reform and doing things differently. 
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NATIONAL REDRESS SCHEME
In late 2018, the PMSA announced our Group’s commitment to join the 
Federal Government’s National Redress Scheme which will allow people 
who were abused in the care of any of our PMSA schools to apply to the 
Scheme for redress.

The National Redress Scheme provides acknowledgement and support to 
people who experienced institutional child sexual abuse.

Created in response to the Royal Commission into Institutional Responses 
to Child Sexual Abuse, the Scheme is an acknowledgement by the 
Australian Government and participating institutions that sexual abuse 
suffered by children in institutional settings was wrong, a betrayal of trust, 
and should never have happened.

The Scheme helps people who have experienced institutional child 
sexual abuse gain access to counselling, a direct personal response, and a 
monetary payment. Redress is an alternative to civil litigation.

STUDENT ART COMPETITION
To mark the PMSA’s 100 years in education, the PMSA invited students 
at PMSA schools to submit art for judging in the PMSA Student Art 
Competition.

This year, the PMSA invited students to provide art on canvas or paper 
using a bold and bright interpretation of one or more of the PMSA values 
which all of the PMSA schools share – relationships, care, ethics, personal 
development, excellence and celebration.

More than 200 Prep to Year 12 students submitted entries and winners 
were chosen from each school in four age categories. 

The competition was judged by PMSA Board Member and art enthusiast 
Emeritus Professor Jennifer Radbourne, PMSA Chairman and architect Greg 
Adsett and past Clayfield College student and teacher now artist Liz Heber.

The winning art was displayed at each school Art Show and continues to be 
proudly displayed in the PMSA Corporate Office. 

BOARDERS AT BEEF AUSTRALIA
The PMSA’s three boarding schools – Brisbane Boys’ College, Clayfield 
College and Somerville House – showcased what boarding has to offer at 
Beef Australia in Rockhampton in May, the largest beef expo in Australia.

The PMSA was proud to support the sister / brother schools who joined 
together to host a luncheon for current and future families from all the 
boarding schools to get to know each other with Brisbane Boys’ College 
Headmaster Paul Brown, Clayfield College Principal Kathy Bishop and 
Somerville House Principal Ness Goodwin joining the festivities.

PMSA ACTIVITIES

TEACHER EDUCATION SCHOLARSHIPS
In 2018, we congratulated three past students who were awarded PMSA 
Teacher Education Scholarships.

Caitlin Caldwell from Clayfield College (2013 – 2017), Laura Campbell from 
Sunshine Coast Grammar School (2006 – 2016), and Genevieve Laverty from 
Somerville House (2015 – 2017) will each receive $2000 per year for up to 
four years as they undertake their teaching degrees.

The scholarships aim to foster a respect for the importance of teaching 
as a profession, foster Christian faith and values in schools and encourage 
future teachers who hold Christian beliefs and values, and assist aspiring 
teachers of Christian conviction to complete an approved teacher education 
program to enable them to make a difference in the schools  
they serve.

INDIGENOUS SCHOLARSHIPS
In 2018, Brisbane Boys’ College, Clayfield College and Sunshine Coast 
Grammar School were granted $7000 each from the PMSA Indigenous 
Scholarship program.  

As part of the PMSA’s Christian mission of education and social justice, the 
program offers financial support to schools to provide indigenous students 
opportunities for their own personal growth and their community’s 
development, through quality education in a Christian school environment. 

STAFF INDUCTION 
The school year started with a successful new PMSA staff induction hosted 
by Clayfield College. 

Held at the beginning of each year, the day introduced new PMSA staff 
from all four schools to the role the PMSA plays in the school community 
and the many policies that ensure our children are educated in the caring 
and safe environment. The PMSA’s Child Safety Policy and Social Media 
Policy were a key focus. The staff also spent time collaborating with peers to 
support our students’ learning through 2018 and beyond.

LEAD TEACHERS AND HIGHLY ACCOMPLISHED TEACHERS
In Term 3, the PMSA acknowledged several high quality teachers within 
our four schools, particularly their role in teaching excellence and the wider 
education community. 

Each year, existing staff make formal applications to become Lead or HAT 
(Highly Accomplished Teachers) and receive increased remuneration. These 
reward packages are important additions to the PMSA Quality Teacher 
Recognition Framework. 

CAITLIN 
CALDWELL

GENEVIEVE
LAVERTY

LAURA CAMPBELL



28 PMSA 2018 ANNUAL REPORT 29PMSA 2018 ANNUAL REPORT

WORLD TEACHERS’ DAY
World Teachers’ Day was joyfully celebrated at all of our PMSA schools on 
Friday 26 October 2018 with various breakfasts, morning teas and lunches 
hosted by school Parent Support Groups and P&F Associations. 

In appreciation of all our dedicated teachers and staff, the PMSA delivered a 
special gift of ‘heartfelt thanks’, giving each staff member a delicious heart-
shaped brownie with a personal note of thanks.

World Teachers’ Day celebrates the positive difference teachers make every 
day, creating opportunities for students and empowering the minds of 
future leaders and innovators. 

The PMSA is extremely proud of the exceptionally high quality of our 
teaching staff at each of our schools. It is the skills and dedication of our 
fabulous staff that enable the PMSA to achieve our mission of providing 
outstanding teaching and learning environments for our students and staff, 
in schools built on the teachings and examples of Jesus Christ.  

DROUGHT RELIEF SUPPORT
Towards the end of 2018, staff and students at PMSA schools conducted 
many activities to raise funds and support struggling farmers in drought 
stricken areas.

To assist, the PMSA Group pledged $1000 to each of the PMSA school’s 
drought relief efforts. Many of our boarding students at Brisbane Boys’ 
College, Clayfield College and Somerville House are from drought affected 
rural areas in Australia.

Our four schools raised thousands of dollars through many different 
activities. Brisbane Boys’ College students held many activities including 
cake stalls, BBQs, and raffles. Clayfield College and Sunshine Coast Grammar 
School held ‘Fiver for a Farmer’ free dress days and other fundraising events 
while Somerville House held collections from staff, student activities and 
fundraised through a team in the Bridge to Brisbane.

Funds raised went to Drought Angels, Buy a Bale, Australian Red Cross 
Disaster Relief and Recovery Appeal and Hayrunner.

In addition to this donation, the PMSA also encouraged our Group suppliers 
and contractors to donate to one of these charities. As a result, several 
companies made sizable donations.

GOVERNANCE REVIEW
In 2018, the PMSA conducted a formal governance review with the 
governance advisory team from the Australian Institute of  
Company Directors (AICD). 

This process was designed to shape a more contemporary governance 
structure for the PMSA. The AICD produced an Issues Paper and sought 
written submissions from the school community which closed in early April. 
The AICD also conducted surveys and interviews and provided their findings 
and recommendations to the PMSA. 

The PMSA complemented the formal governance review with a public 
forum at each of the PMSA schools which were a positive step in  
moving forward. 

The PMSA Board and Corporate Office team were able to listen to and 
understand the community’s thoughts and also clarify many  
common questions. 

GOVERNANCE REFORM
Following the governance review, the PMSA Board has 
carefully considered the AICD recommendations and 
further possible changes. Throughout the final quarter 
of 2018, the Board and Corporate Office embarked on 
implementing many changes in five key areas: 

1) The roles, powers, responsibilities and composition 
of the PMSA Board and School Councils
• School Councils will be responsible for establishing 

school plans, monitoring risk and ensuring 
adherence to all policies and procedures. 

• School Councils will oversee and recommend new 
School Council member appointments. 

• School Principals will report directly to School 
Councils. 

• The name of the PMSA Council will be changed to 
the ‘PMSA Board’ to better reflect the strategic role. 

• The PMSA Board will primarily focus on Group-
wide matters that enhance the efficiency and 
effectiveness of the PMSA as a whole.

2) The size, tenure and representation of the PMSA 
Board and School Councils 
• The maximum size of the PMSA Board will reduce 

from 15 to 13 members. 
• The maximum tenure of both PMSA Board and 

School Council members will reduce to nine years. 
• The maximum size of the School Councils will 

increase from eight to nine members. 
• The number of PMSA Board representatives on each 

School Council will reduce from three to two.

3) Reporting and transparency 
• All newly-amended charters for the PMSA Board, 

Committees and School Councils will be published. 
• The Group’s policies and processes for the 

nomination and appointment of PMSA Board and 
School Council members will be published. 

• Breakdowns of schools’ operational income and 
expenditure will be published and the governance 
section in each school’s annual report will  
be enhanced. 

• All vacancies on the PMSA Board and School 
Councils will be advertised for expressions 
of interest, noting the desired capabilities of 
applicants. 

• Governance sections on the PMSA and school 
websites will include expanded information such as 
relevant skills and experience of PMSA Board and 
School Council members.

4) Culture, communication and stakeholder 
engagement 
• The PMSA will develop and implement a 

stakeholder engagement plan together with 
the schools. To support this, the PMSA Board 
and School Councils will also provide better 
mechanisms and channels to engage with the 
school community and facilitate more open 
dialogue with the community regarding the 
operation of each school. 

• Our overall aim with making these changes is to 
ensure the PMSA rebuilds relationships, restores 
trust with key stakeholders and enables our four 
schools to continue to thrive.

5) Services and functionality
• The PMSA will explore back office areas where our 

schools would benefit from sharing some services, 
purchasing as a group, learning from each other 
and collaborating together. 

• In addition, the PMSA will continue to work on 
changes that will improve our functionality through 
improving induction and training and professional 
development for new members of the PMSA Board 
and School Councils. 

• Our external recruitment process will be improved 
to be more transparent and robust. 

• Functions within the PMSA Corporate Office will be 
expanded to better support the PMSA’s  
governance model.

The implementation of these reforms will continue  
into 2019.

Page | i 

AICD ISSUES PAPER – PMSA GOVERNANCE ASPECTS 

MARCH 2018

Issues Paper 
The Presbyterian and Methodist 
Schools Association (PMSA) –
Governance Aspects 
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The PMSA Indigenous Scholarships program has 
been directly assisting to build bridges between the 
indigenous and non-indigenous people of Australia 
since 2014.  

As part of the PMSA’s Christian mission of education 
and social justice, the program offers financial support 
to schools to provide indigenous students opportunities 
for their own personal growth and their community’s 
development, through quality education in a Christian 
school environment. 

For many years, PMSA schools have provided education 
to indigenous students, with some students receiving 
assistance through a variety of scholarships such as the 
Australian Indigenous Education Foundation (AIEF). 

Clayfield College was the first PMSA school to enrol an 
indigenous student in 
1971 and continues this 
proud tradition. Several 
high-achieving students 
have graduated from the 
College including AIEF 
scholarship recipient 
Tania Major who was 
named Young Australian 
of the Year in 2007 and 
internationally-recognised 
indigenous artist and 
AIEF scholarship recipient 
Claudia Moodoonuthi.

The PMSA Indigenous Scholarship program is designed 
to further support students to achieve at all PMSA 
schools. 

The program also provides a greater awareness of 
indigenous culture and history among the students at 
PMSA schools and promotes harmonious relationships 
between indigenous and non-indigenous people in our 
community.

Each school applies for funding each year and uses the 
funding in different ways: some schools use it to fund 
one student, several students, or broader educational 
and support programs.

In 2018, Brisbane Boys’ College used the funds to 
support the social, emotional, academic and cultural 
enrichment of indigenous students by employing 
specialist tutors and a mentor to assist staff with the 
learning of 12 indigenous students.

The support helps existing students with their 
assessment and learning as well as new students settle 
into the BBC boarding environment.

In 2018, Sunshine Coast Grammar School used the 
funds to subsidise tuition fees for five indigenous 
students.
 
Clayfield College also used the funds to support tuition 
and boarding fees for indigenous students from remote 
communities.

FUTURE LEADER CHLOE SHINES AT  
CLAYFIELD COLLEGE 
A fine sportswoman, a diligent student and budding 
chorister, Chloe Menagh is an excellent candidate and 
a future indigenous leader who receives funds from 
the PMSA Indigenous Scholarship fund to support her 
education. 

Chloe commenced her secondary education in Year 7 at 
Clayfield College as a boarder from Caboolture in 2018. 

Already following in the 
footsteps to become a 
future leader, Chloe is 
achieving highly in the 
myriad of academic and 
co-curricular activities she 
has been exposed to since 
starting at Clayfield. 

For the first time in her 
life, Chloe has had the 
opportunity to join a choir, 
challenge herself in new 
subjects like Visual Art and 

Spanish and participate in many new sports such as 
netball, hockey, artistic gymnastics, cricket and touch 
football. 

“The difference between the opportunities Chloe has 
been given at Clayfield and those that she would have 
had if she had stayed at home is incomparable,” said 
her stepmother Samantha Pietersen.

“We would not have been able to offer her all of these 
opportunities,” she said. 

Working in the State education system, Chloe’s parents 
are fully aware of how opportunities can benefit 
children. 

“Attending Clayfield College has been a life-changing 
experience for Chloe. The whole ethos of Clayfield 
College is brilliant. 

“Her journey so far has opened her eyes to new 
opportunities and given her the courage to go for 
them.”

BUILDING BRIDGES THROUGH 
INDIGENOUS SUPPORTFOCUS:

Like other indigenous Old Collegians who have walked 
the Clayfield corridors before her, Chloe has the  
inner-strength, drive and now courage to be another 
leader and mentor for not only indigenous students but 
for others too. 

“Chloe is acutely aware of the opportunities she has 
been given, and takes advantage of not only the 
sporting opportunities but also the tutoring assistance 
she is given in the boarding house.”

Although she is a weekly boarder, Chloe often stays in 
the boarding house on weekends to play sport, study or 
be with her friends. 

“Chloe has made friends with many other boarders 
and day girls including connections with indigenous 
students from other parts of Australia,” Samantha said. 

“She has been invited for a holiday to a small island 
community off the coast of Aurukun in far North 
Queensland in the Gulf of Carpentaria. That’s very 
special for us to make those connections with the 
broader indigenous community.”

A cross country runner, Chloe has always had a dream 
to go to the Olympics for athletics but with the variety 
of sport she now plays, she is not sure in which sport. 

Averaging As and Bs, Chloe is also working hard 
academically to achieve her career goal of being a 
doctor or marine biologist. 

The difference between the opportunities  
Chloe has been given at Clayfield and those  
that she would have had if she had stayed  

at home is incomparabale.

We would not have been 
able to offer her all of these 

opportunites.

CHLOE MENAGH
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PMSA SCHOOLS OVERVIEW 

 
The PMSA owns four great Queensland schools – Brisbane Boys’ College, Clayfield 
College, Somerville House and Sunshine Coast Grammar School. Each PMSA school 
is unique and individual, but shares with each other collective PMSA values as well 
as their knowledge and expertise to enhance the educational experience across all 
schools.  

STAFF
In 2018, the four PMSA schools employed a total of 767 staff. 

Together with the School Councils, the PMSA recruits and appoints school Principals and Chaplains while other 
school staff appointments are managed by the school Principal and overseen by each School Council. All school 
staff are employees of the PMSA. 

The following staff numbers are declared through the Non-Government Schools Census which is held on the first 
Friday in August of each year. 

Below is the Principal and Chaplain at each PMSA school for 2018.

STAFF 2018 2017

Brisbane Boys' College

 − Teaching (Full time equivalent) 148 (136.1) 144 (134.6)

 − Non-teaching (Full time equivalent) 100 (85) 98 (86.2)

 − Total number of staff 248 242

Clayfield College 

 − Teaching (Full time equivalent) 69 (64.1) 69 (63.5)

 − Non-teaching (Full time equivalent) 40 (33.6) 38 (32.7)

 − Total number of staff 109 107

Somerville House 

 − Teaching (Full time equivalent) 125 (117) 118 (114)

 − Non-teaching (Full time equivalent) 102 (90) 100 (87.6)

 − Total number of staff 227 218

Sunshine Coast Grammar School 

 − Teaching (Full time equivalent) 101 (96.5) 97 (93.3)

 − Non-teaching(Full time equivalent) 82 (67.1) 74 (60)

 − Total number of staff 183 171

TOTAL STAFF 767 738

ENROLMENTS
During 2018, enrolments decreased to a total of 4,685 across the four PMSA schools.  The continued 
negative media coverage in 2018 affected enrolments in our Brisbane schools. 

The following enrolment numbers are declared through the Non-Government Schools Census which is 
held on the first Friday in August of each year. 

ACADEMIC 
Academically, student achievements continue to be exceptionally high across all four PMSA schools. 

OP SCORES
Year 12 students at all four of the PMSA’s schools performed exceptionally in the 2018 OP scores. Sunshine 
Coast Grammar School (SCGS) Year 12s achieved their best ever results with 10 students achieving an OP 1. 

All of our PMSA schools – Brisbane Boys’ College, Clayfield College, Somerville House and Sunshine Coast 
Grammar School – pride themselves on providing students with an outstanding academic education but 
also on providing this is the context of strong Christian values that will guide students throughout their 
lives.

The goal at all of our PMSA Schools is for every graduating Year 12 student to be working or studying 
towards a future career that values their talents.

See below for each school’s OP results for 2018.

SCHOOL PRINCIPAL CHAPLAIN

Brisbane Boys' College Paul Brown Reverend Graham Cole

Clayfield College Kathy Bishop Reverend Paul Yarrow

Somerville House Ness Goodwin Pastor Christine O'Gorman

Sunshine Coast Grammar School Maria Woods Pastor Jon Taylor

ENROLMENTS 2018 2017

Brisbane Boys' College (Boys Prep - 12) 1,503 1,546

Clayfield College (Girls Pre-Prep - 12; and boys PP - 6) 565 599

Somerville House (Girls Pre-Prep - 12; and boys PP) 1,317 1,370

Sunshine Coast Grammar School (Co-educational Prep - 12) 1,300 1,241

TOTAL ENROLMENTS 4,685 4,756

SCHOOL
OP 1 - 2 OP 1 - 5 OP 1 - 15

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Brisbane Boys' College 16 % 18 % 38 % 44 % 100 % 99 %

Clayfield College 7 % 6 % 38 % 25 % 98 % 93 %

Somerville House 13 % 16 % 40 % 38 % 98 % 93 %

Sunshine Coast Grammar School 20 % 11 % 42 % 26 % 96% 86 %

State average 7 % 7 % 22 % 22 % 83 % 82 %

TOTAL STAFF

767
TOTAL STUDENTS

4685
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NAPLAN
NAPLAN results in 2018 were also extremely high across our four schools. See below for each school’s results. 

Based on these NAPLAN results, the Better Education list of top primary schools in Brisbane ranked both Clayfield 
College and Somerville House equal first with a perfect 100 score while Brisbane Boys’ College scored an extremely 
high 99. Sunshine Coast Grammar School also ranked a high 94. 

PASTORAL CARE
Each PMSA school continues to have a strong focus on 
pastoral care. Wellbeing and pastoral care programs 
focus on age-appropriate learning to develop positive 
purpose, emotions, relationships, engagement, self-
esteem, achievements, resilience, academic buoyance 
and optimism in students. 

CHRISTIAN EDUCATION
Christian education is a strong focus in all Year levels 
in all PMSA schools. The gospel is shared in informal 
gatherings of students, school assemblies, Year level and 
House Chapel services, as well as in class.  All schools 
have one senior Chaplain while the larger schools also 
have an Associate Chaplain.  

We are pleased with the strength of the chaplaincy 
team across our schools, who work together to develop 
their teachings. While the major responsibility for 
the spiritual leadership in our schools rests with our 
Chaplains and Principals, all staff provide students with 
a living experience of Christian faith in classes, study 
groups and Christian service activities and in their 
pastoral care of students and families. 

We continue to strengthen our Christian environment 
by increasing staff awareness. This includes our 
commitment to support our Christian culture in 
position descriptions and in staff performance planning 
and review processes. This is articulated to new staff 
at their PMSA staff induction. In addition, throughout 
2018, many PMSA teachers participated in Christian 
Education workshops lead by the Chaplains.

SCHOOL READING WRITING SPELLING
GRAMMAR & 

PUNCTUATION
NUMERACY

Brisbane Boys' College

Year 3 482 457 474 479 475

Year 5 551 484 526 538 538

Year 7 584 541 569 600 619

Year 9 622 591 614 610 658

Clayfield College

Year 3 518 468 470 505 460

Year 5 562 509 544 560 558

Year 7 572 534 582 577 566

Year 9 625 572 621 632 617

Somerville House

Year 3 500 458 472 501 453

Year 5 576 520 552 574 558

Year 7 589 564 591 597 587

Year 9 629 605 630 639 652

Sunshine Coast Grammar School

Year 3 474 403 448 465 432

Year 5 524 473 516 522 512

Year 7 577 545 583 574 586

Year 9 628 597 612 608 640

State average

Year 3 430 398 411 430 399

Year 5 506 454 497 501 488

Year 7 538 494 542 542 542

Year 9 578 527 580 580 588

National average

Year 3 433 407 418 432 408

Year 5 509 465 503 504 494

Year 7 542 505 545 544 548

Year 9 584 542 583 580 596
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BRISBANE BOYS’ COLLEGE 

Commencing with four boys in 1902, more than 1500 day boys and boarders formed 
the Brisbane Boys’ College (BBC) school community in 2018. Along with a very warm 
and supportive parent and past student community who have a deep affection for the 
College, they show their support for their boys and for the College on a daily basis.

By any standard, 2018 has been a year of outstanding 
accomplishment for the College. We have seen our boys 
at their best across a comprehensive range of activities 
both at home and abroad. We have seen boys in their 
day to day school lives actively participating in the life 
of the College, quietly getting on with the job at hand, 
contributing to the best of their ability and with a sense 
of collegiality and authentic school spirit. For a school to 
have a tangible sense of esprit de corps, and a palpably 
positive and inclusive quality that is so evident at BBC, 
all must play their part and all have a part to play. 

BBC was magnificently represented on the world 
stage in August 2018 by the BBC Pipe Band at the 
Royal Edinburgh Military Tattoo and the World 
Championships. The boys distinguished themselves by 
their talent, commitment and impeccable behaviour. 
Similarly, boys from robotics represented the College, 
and Australia, at the RoboCup World Championships 
in Montreal in June. Once again students triumphed at 
the highest level but just as importantly were wonderful 
ambassadors who would often lend a hand to other 
teams when expert assistance was required. 

On the domestic front, the College has had a very 
successful year. In the GPS competitions, BBC was 
Centenary Year champions in cross country for the first 
time in history, in tennis for the sixth consecutive year 
and, most recently, BBC became the GPS track and field 
champions for the third successive year. In other sports 
and activities, BBC placed second in chess, basketball, 
cricket, volleyball and ‘A’ debating, and placed third 
in rugby, gymnastics and sailing. The success of the 
water polo teams made BBC the pre-eminent school 
in that sport. Commendable lower place finishes to 
football, swimming and rowing round out a vibrant and 
enjoyable co-curricular year. 

While we have enjoyed wonderful results, what best 
symbolises the spirit of the College is the willingness 
of so many boys to wear the College colours alongside 
their mates and enjoy all the benefits of friendly 
competition regardless of the result on the scoreboard.

Along with Paul Brown’s appointment as the ninth 
Headmaster of BBC, 2018 has also been a year of 
renewal. A year where there has been a changing of 
the guard at the leadership level of the College. As such 
new leaders have now taken their place in each of the 
three sub-schools which make up the College. These 
leaders bring years of experience, unique gifts and 
talents, fresh ideas and dreams, and a commitment to 
boys’ education. 

This year the School Council Chairman Jackie 
McPherson, who has made a fine contribution, 
retired after eight years in the position. The role of the 
Chairman is an extremely demanding one, which has 
required her to not only chair many meetings, but also 
attend a host of school functions.

BBC is often referred to as an all-round school. That 
is, a school that provides opportunities across a broad 
range of curricular and co-curricular activities and 
which also seeks to develop boys on a personal, social, 
emotional and spiritual basis so that they become fully-
rounded human beings. While the College is happy to 
be referred to as an all-round school and takes pride 
in that appellation, the phrase ‘all-round school’ can 
sometimes carry the pejorative connotation of ‘all-round 
competence’, that is, being content to do many things 
very well but nothing to the highest levels  
of achievement. 

BBC is not content to judge ourselves against other 
schools in our immediate environment. We are 
raising our sights and drawing inspiration from the 
best educational systems around the world and from 
evidence-based research. 

BBC strives to be a world class school so as to help 
students be confident and competent global citizens 
with the capability to change the world. A world class 
school is one in which every child is provided with the 
opportunity to achieve. And while BBC assists each boy 
to achieve to their potential, the College will not seek 
to define potential too readily, because in defining or 
categorising potential, we risk placing limits on a boy’s 
potential. BBC students are highly capable and will rise 
to a challenge that is presented to them. 

The best teaching and learning occurs using a variety 
of styles and techniques, which enhance student 

engagement. BBC students become successful adults 
as the College provides them with knowledge and gives 
them the power and agency to apply the knowledge in 
a variety of contexts and constructs. The College teaches 
them foundational literacies – numeracy, scientific 
literacy, language literacy, ICT literacy, cultural and 
civic literacy – as well as key 21st century competencies 
such as critical thinking and problem solving, creativity, 
communication and collaboration. BBC also builds 
their character qualities such as curiosity, initiative, 
persistence, adaptability, leadership and social and 
cultural awareness. 

This requires a refreshed approach to teaching and 
learning, what BBC refers to as A New School of 
Thought. 

Paul Brown  Jackie McPherson
Headmaster  School Council Chairman
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CLAYFIELD COLLEGE 

A Clayfield College education fosters the development of the dispositions and qualities 
that will enable young people to thrive and succeed in all areas of life. Learning is at 
the heart of everything that happens at the College. This learning is holistic, involving 
spiritual, cognitive, physical, social and emotional domains. In 2018, 565 students from 
Pre-Prep to Year 12 engaged in a myriad of opportunities aimed at building their 
capacity in these areas.

A Clayfield College education fosters the development 
of the dispositions and qualities that will enable young 
people to thrive and succeed in all areas of life. Learning 
is at the heart of everything that happens at the College. 
This learning is holistic, involving spiritual, cognitive, 
physical, social and emotional domains. In 2018, 565 
students from Pre-Prep to Year 12 engaged in a myriad 
of opportunities aimed at building their capacity in 
these areas.

The 2018 Year 12 cohort achieved wonderful results with 
100 per cent attaining their Queensland Certificate of 
Education, 1 in 3 students achieving an OP between 1 
and 5, 1 in 2 students achieving an OP between 1 and 
7 and 98 per cent achieving an OP between 1 and 15. 
The College was particularly pleased to have so many 
students with results that enabled tertiary entrance. 
Additionally, 28 girls completed vocational qualifications 
which earned them OP equivalent ranks. 

NAPLAN results in 2018 were also cause for celebration 
at Clayfield College. The Primary School was given a 
perfect score on the Better Education website ranking it 
equal first in Brisbane North Primary Schools.

The College’s academic achievements are the result of 
an innovative and dedicated staff. A group of teachers 
and department heads collaborated throughout the 
year to research and create The Clayfield Classroom, 
a framework which articulates best practice teaching 
and learning. As part of this, four cornerstones of the 
Clayfield College environment were articulated. These 
cornerstones emerged from the Hearts, Minds and 
Souls pillars of The Clayfield Way. Each of them is 
written as a personal statement about the College and 
its community.

We are connected and compassionate.
We are committed to service and sustainability.
We celebrate diversity and innovation.
We embrace creativity and challenge.

Within the context of this environment, teachers act 
consciously to facilitate the deep learning that results in 
cognitive transfer. 

Clayfield College acknowledges that excellent learning 
is founded on personal wellbeing. Throughout 2018, a 
suite of targeted programs and experiences have been 
implemented to cater for the social and emotional 
needs of each student, and facilitate the transition 
from child to adolescent to adult. These programs 
were delivered through the House system, Personal 
Development lessons, Outdoor Education experiences 
and community service.

The Clayfield College Outdoor Education program is 
designed so that there is a gradually increasing level of 
challenge from Year 4 through to Year 10. In 2018 the 
experiences were varied, but all provided opportunities 
to appreciate the natural environment. Activities 
aimed to challenge students physically, emotionally 
and psychologically to expand the range of situations 
in which they felt secure. Based on the “challenge by 
choice” philosophy, participants engaged in intelligent 
risk-taking, choosing the most appropriate experiences 
for them. Once again, the Year 11 camp focussed on 
character and leadership development, also using the 
principle of controlled risk-taking.

In 2018, Year 12 student leaders chose ‘Ladies of Change’ 
as their theme, aiming to inspire students to be ‘proud 
of themselves, proud of others and proud of the 

College’. The College Captains introduced ‘We’re proud 
of you’ handwritten cards, distributed at Assemblies 
to reward small acts of kindness, pride or spirit. They 
enhanced connections across the school through events 
such as dance parties on the oval, Socks for Change 
Day where each year level wore one colour and were 
challenged to say hello to a student wearing a different 
colour, and through the ever-popular Lunch with  
the Littlies. 

Clayfield College students in 2018 had the opportunity 
to involve themselves in a rich variety of co-curricular 
activities. Over 80 per cent of students participated 
in sporting activities. The introduction of the Britton 
Shield, a boys’ sporting competition between like 
schools Ipswich Junior Grammar, Ambrose Treacy 
College and Moreton Bay Boys College allowed the 
Clayfield boys to enjoy healthy competition across the 
sports of touch football, soccer and cricket. They were 
able to take home the shield for both touch football 
and soccer. Overall Clayfield College earned seven 
premierships, came first in QGSSSA gymnastics, came 
first in the Andrews Cup Megan Mitchell Shield for 
gymnastics, first in the Andrews Cup swimming and 
athletics percentage cups, second in the Andrews Cup 
cross country percentage cup, and third in the QGSSSA 
swimming percentage cup.

As always, musical education flourished at Clayfield 
College. Involving students from Prep to Year 12, there 
were six choirs, three bands, four string ensembles and 
five chamber ensembles, along with a beginner band 
(Years 5 and 6) and Year 3 strings program. Students 
had opportunities to perform within the College 
Concert program, and in competitions and community 
events. Students across choral, band and string strands 
workshopped with experts in the musical field including 
Jason Noble, Ralph Hultgren, Brett Holland, Louise King, 
Timo Jarvela, Jackie Cooper and John Morrison. Many 
of our ensembles competed in the Queensland Youth 
Music Awards and Prestige Music Fest achieving one 
platinum, six gold and five silver awards. In September, 
five staff and 50 students undertook the USA Music 

Tour. In New York, Washington and Los Angeles, 
students performed with talented local school students, 
workshopped with international musicians and 
recorded at Disneyland.  

A number of special events took place in 2018. Among 
these was the Today Show’s visit to the College to 
showcase the work happening in conjunction with our 
industry partners, STEM PUNKS. Students were televised 
learning in the Maker Space programming robots, 
flying drones and printing 3D objects. Throughout the 
program students were interviewed about the use of 
technology at Clayfield. The final live cross included 
students from every year level.

New Nature Play playgrounds were opened in the 
primary school, allowing young boys and girls to have a 
great deal of fun while engaging in activities that assist 
in the development of gross motor skills. The College 
was honoured to receive the donation by Old Collegian, 
Diana Osbaldiston, of a flag pole and flag. The flag was 
officially raised in July 2018.

Community involvement at Clayfield College continued 
throughout 2018 making the school environment one 
of warmth and generosity. The Clayfield Fair in August 
entered its second year as a friend raiser. The day had 
the support of the greater community, who enjoyed the 
fantastic weather and positive atmosphere. On the basis 
of the 2018 success, it is predicted that the Clayfield Fair 
will grow annually and continue to reflect the strength 
of the Clayfield community.

The Foundation’s ‘Opportunity for Excellence’ grant 
enabled the introduction of a strength and conditioning 
program at Clayfield College in 2018. Funds have 
allowed the College to enlist the services of several 
coaches, under the supervision of a highly experienced 
trainer. This has had a very positive effect on our 
students’ physical fitness. 

Kathy Bishop  Anne Bennett
Principal  School Council Chairman
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SOMERVILLE HOUSE 

Somerville House is rich in heritage and tradition and combines challenging and 
innovative learning opportunities with supportive pastoral care programs. Christian 
foundations are the heart of Somerville House, with Christian teaching, values and 
behaviours supporting a safe and inclusive learning environment, underpinned by the 
School motto, Honour Before Honours.

Somerville House aims to encourage all students to 
become the best they can be in all that they undertake. 
We seek to cultivate and extend student abilities 
within a disciplined environment, but one in which 
imagination and creativity are valued, and happiness 
and laughter are fostered. Each learner is recognised as 
an individual and encouraged to produce her best in all 
circumstances. Pursuing excellence is acknowledged as 
a primary goal for all.

The Somerville House ‘Strategic Intent’ document was 
refreshed in 2018 and outlined the strategic pillars for 
the School.

LEARN AND EXPLORE (LEARN AND INSPIRE)  
is a traditional strength of the School. Our ‘Community 
of Learning’ provides a breadth and depth of 
opportunities; both curricular and co-curricular and 
focusses on developing well-equipped, resilient and 
independent learners with exceptional learning and 
educational outcomes. 

Somerville House is synonymous with excellence in 
education, with the School consistently performing 
among the top schools in Australia. Programs are 
academically challenging, recreationally varied, socially 
stimulating and spiritually rich. Somerville House 
specialist teachers aim to educate students to become 
self-assured and independent thinkers who value 
learning as a life-long, enriching undertaking.

Our Co-Curricular program is notable for the breadth 
of activities available throughout the year, along with a 
commitment to provide real opportunities for student 
improvement. With cultural, social, personal, music and 
sports opportunities, all catering for students of differing 

ability, these offerings are integral to the educational 
experience of our students. 

A holistic approach to learning is also a strong focus. In 
2018, with the theme Believe, the School concentrated 
on positively shaping students’ futures: the way they 
think and perceive themselves and others, and the 
world around them. The School focussed on educating 
our students to initiate ideas, and meet and challenge 
modern complexities of their future. The positive 
wellbeing programs were aimed at developing positive 
relationships, emotions, self-esteem, engagement, 
achievement, resilience and purpose all within an 
overarching ‘Culture of Learning’.

EVOLVE AND GROW (ENGAGE AND INVOLVE)  
is the second strategic pillar. A strong School 
community fosters positive, rewarding relationships 
and experiences for students, parents and staff. Our 
Christian values – Relationships, Care, Ethics, Personal 
Development, Excellence and Celebration – are key to 
engaging and involving our stakeholders and contribute 
to the welcoming and inclusive environment Somerville 
House strives to create.

‘One Somerville’ engages our broad range of 
stakeholders: 
• The Parents & Friends’ Association encourages past 

and present family involvement and interest in the 
School. 

• The Foundation partners with the School to deliver 
projects and programs that have a lasting and 
personal impact on the learning experiences of 
current and future generations of Somerville  
House students. 

• The Old Girls’ Association is very active within the 

School community, providing essential support to a 
wide range of educational initiatives and supports 
and nurtures the friendships made at School into 
adult life. 

ENGAGE AND INSPIRE (SUPPORT AND GROW) 
is the third pillar in our Strategic framework and 
focusses on providing the resources to enable 
Somerville House to deliver ‘Best Practice’ initiatives 
across human, physical and virtual resources. 

The School’s professional learning program is driven 
by Quality Teacher Practice and promotes consistent 
excellence in teaching practices. In 2018, a significant 
area of focus for teaching and learning in the School 
was the implementation of the new QCE system in 
senior education in Queensland. 

The creation of an Educational Research Centre to 
support the ongoing professional development of 
the academic staff is complemented by whole staff 
professional development sessions and research 
projects undertaken through external partnerships. 
Established Professional Learning Teams also 
form part of an ongoing strategic approach to 
professional learning for all academic staff and drives 
our commitment to ‘best people in a positive and 
supportive culture’.

As part of The School Master Plan, 2018 capital projects 
included: 

• The Seymour Library was completed in early 
2018 and has created a variety of flexible learning 
spaces and other essential infrastructure to enable 
innovative, contemporary teaching and learning 
opportunities for staff and students. 

• The School commenced a Technology Services 
refurbishment and extension towards the end of 
2018. This project will deliver a student support 
lounge and quality workspaces for staff, creating 
a welcoming environment designed to maximise 
collaboration and the use of technology as a 
learning tool. 

In addition, following the opening of Somerville House’s 
Dunn Road Sporting Grounds, the Interhouse Cross 
Country was held there for the first time in March 2018.

Shaping the future of young women – the way they 
think and solve problems, the way they perceive 
themselves, others and the world around them – is 
an increasingly complex challenge. In a world that 
demands innovative, ethical solutions to a wide range 
of humanitarian, environmental and commercial 
challenges, Somerville House strives to ensure students 
leave with a first-class education and a well-rounded 
schooling experience, and to think deeply about 
the kind of future they want and can help create for 
Queensland, Australia and beyond.

Ness Goodwin  Jim Demack
Interim Principal School Council Chairman
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SUNSHINE COAST GRAMMAR SCHOOL

2018 began at Sunshine Coast Grammar School with the much-anticipated grand 
opening of the Grammar Aquatic Centre. The centre boasts world class facilities 
including a 10 lane 50 metre FINA-certified heated swimming pool, an enclosed 17 
metre learn to swim pool, an undercover grandstand seating for 700 visitors, a private 
function area, and a café. 

Commemorating 22 years in 2018, Grammar’s Foundation Day celebrations included a special Foundation Day 
Assembly and morning tea for Grammar families, both present and past, as well as friends and community leaders. 
The School recognised the contributions of both staff and students, and acknowledged staff who have given 10, 15 
and 20 years of faithful service to Grammar, as well as celebrating 28 Life Long Learners who have been Grammar 
students from Prep through to Year 12. 

In 2018, Sunshine Coast Grammar School worked deliberately to seek formal feedback from the School community 
to continue our commitment to whole-of-school improvement. The School engaged Macquarie Marketing Group 
(MMG) in 2013 and then again in 2018 to conduct the five year community feedback survey. We were delighted with 
the following results.

In yet another important survey in 2018, we asked 
staff, parents and students in Years 5-12, about our 
current and future facilities and resources. This data has 
provided us with invaluable information for our new 
Master Plan. The following table shows the top four 
developments or improvements from the survey. 

In co-curricular activities including sporting, music, 
social, and art, Grammar students participated in a 
range of events and achieved highly. Some of the 
highlights include water polo and basketball grand 
finalists, under 13 and under 15 rugby champions of the 
All Schools Tournament, gold medallists for the Year 
8 team and Year 11 teams and Year 7 teams placing 
second and third respectively in the Sunshine Coast 
Mathematics Tournament, Year 9 Intermediate Grand 
Champions and Year 12 Senior Grand Champions in the 
USC Vice-Chancellors Debating Cup, Year 7 Readers 
Cup Champions, and the Brainways Quest team 
qualified for the State Titles.

The outstanding Year 12 OP results in 2018 provided a 
fitting end to what has been a stellar year across the 
board – in the classroom, on the sporting field, out in 
the community and on stage; achievements that have 
reflected each student’s individual endeavour and 
interests. A record 10 Grammar graduates achieved 
an OP1, with more than 20 per cent of students from 
Sunshine Coast Grammar School achieving an OP1-2 
and 42 per cent achieving an OP1-5. This year’s cohort 
also achieved record results in the Queensland Core 
Skills Test.

The results achieved are a reflection of the hard work, 
commitment and positive attitude these students have 
displayed towards their studies. This school is incredibly 
proud of the Year 12 cohort and congratulate them on 
their outstanding achievements.

Success comes in many forms and as a School it is our 
goal for every graduating Year 12 student to be working 
or studying towards a career that not only values their 
talents, but for which they also have a real passion and 
purpose.

Grammar encourages each and every student to go 
confidently in the direction of their dreams, to work 
hard and to realise their full potential in the next phase 
of their unique journey. 

Maria Woods  Jennifer Radbourne  
Principal  School Council Chairman

In 2018, the School also reviewed the School’s Vision for Learning and asked staff, parents and students Years 
5-12 what are the skillsets and mindsets required for the future. The top ranking 10 traits were respect for self and 
others, problem-solving skills, resilience, critical thinking, creativity and creative thinking, adaptability, engagement 
and communication skills, motivation, goal orientation, and integrity. This consensus of skills for the future are 
embedded in our pedagogy and pastoral care.  
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n %

Theatrical Hall / Auditorium / 
Performing Arts Centre should be 
considered

57 25 %

Traffic planning / Access in and out of 
the school

41 18 %

Parking options (e.g. separate parent 
parking)

40 18 %

Sports fields (e.g. running track), 
seating for spectators, scoreboard for 
main oval

27 12 %
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PMSA schools have long been renowned for exceptional 
teachers. After all, our mission is ‘to provide outstanding 
teaching and learning environments for our students 
and staff’, and our vision is to ‘build caring school 
communities, by providing world-class teaching and 
learning environments of excellence…’.

To encourage, acknowledge and recognise teaching 
excellence in our schools, in 2014 the PMSA developed 
and implemented the PMSA Quality Teacher 
Recognition Framework. 

As a part of this Framework, each year many teachers in 
our four schools apply to become recognised as ‘Lead’ 
teachers or ‘Highly Accomplished Teachers’ (HAT). 

The program not only acknowledges and financially 
rewards high performing teachers in our four great 
schools, but the process itself encourages teachers to 
reflect on and develop their teaching practice. 

Recently successful HAT applicants from Somerville 
House – Year 5 teacher Esther Harrison and Prep teacher 
Ann Zenko – both agreed the process was rigorous, 
but thoroughly enjoyed preparing their applications. 
The process provided them with the opportunity to 
evaluate what they do in their teaching and identify key 
opportunities for their pedagogical growth. 

Dean of Teaching, Learning & Innovation and co-
ordinator of the Quality Teacher Recognition Framework 
at Somerville House Laura Duffield said the program is 
a great acknowledgement and recognition of teachers 
such as Esther Harrison and Ann Zenko and their  
great work. 

 

“Many teachers who have been previously recognised 
in this program at Somerville House have moved into 
middle management when opportunities have become 
available,” she said.

ESTHER HARRISON –  
OPPORTUNITIES FOR GROWTH 
Year 5 Somerville House teacher Esther Harrison has 
been teaching for 15 years and at Somerville House for 
the past four years. 

Awarded as a Highly Accomplished Teacher in 2017, she 
said the process gave her the opportunity to truly reflect 
on what she’d done throughout her career, observe 
what she was doing now and where she wanted  
to grow. 

“The process made me re-evaluate not only what was 
important in my teaching but why it was important. I 
was able to reflect on my practices and pedagogy, and 
identify the purposeful from the habitual,” Esther said. 

“When I was training, we had to do formal evaluation for 
every lesson. While we now evaluate lessons informally 
every day, there is less of a requirement to formalise 
these thoughts and notes.”
 
Originally from the United Kingdom, Esther has 
travelled and taught around the world. Although people 
and places are different, she believes the challenges of 
teaching are the same. 

At Somerville House, she loves the school’s pedagogical 
framework because it fits with her teaching philosophy 
of student-focussed learning and inquiry-based 
learning. She also loves teaching in the new  
Robinson Centre. 

OPPORTUNITY TO REFLECT AND 
TEACH PURPOSEFULLYFOCUS: “The open plan design and flexible space and seating 

in the Year 5 and 6 classrooms in the Robinson Centre 
allows for the four Year 5 teachers to collaborate 
regularly and the teachers to ‘team teach’ which further 
enables the girls to engage in their learning.”

Esther has a passion for history and geography and is a 
curious person.  

“I want the students to develop a love of learning. I am 
trying to hold the curiosity that can be lost as  
children grow.” 

Esther hopes the Robinson Centre space, the student-
centred pedagogical approach at Somerville House and 
her teaching style helps students maintain that curiosity 
and helps students work out how they learn best. 

“The students have no barriers in the Robinson Centre. 
Every child gets every opportunity to be creative and 
innovative.” 

“The HAT application process made me think long and 
hard about how I can harness what is interesting for  
the students.”

ANN ZENKO – ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND 
REAFFIRMING BELIEFS 
Also originally from the United Kingdom, Prep teacher 
at Somerville House Ann Zenko knows what leading 
teaching pedagogy is. 

After beginning her career in a ‘beacon school’ in the 
UK – government schools that were high-performing, 
received additional funding and provided other schools 
and teachers with their learning experience – Ann’s 
early years teaching training was of an extremely high 
standard. 

Moving to Australia with her young family in 2008, she 
joined the Somerville House staff full-time in 2013. 
In 2018, Ann was encouraged as a part of her 
professional development to apply for Highly 
Accomplished Teacher recognition. 

“The application process for me was very much about 
reflecting on what and how I do things.” 

Ann also appreciated that the process helped her 
identify gaps in her teaching and gave her some areas 
to work on for continuous improvement. 

One of the first Prep teachers to apply for HAT 
recognition, Ann commented that the Somerville House 
panel was pleased with the information and evidence 
she had provided. 

“It demonstrated to me the importance that Somerville 
House places on the foundations of early learning and 
the acknowledgment of best practice pedagogy.

“Recently, I was privileged to be a part of a year-long 
program with Independent Schools Queensland to 
study age-appropriate pedagogy.   

“The program reaffirmed my beliefs in play-based 
learning and justified what we are doing here at 
Somerville,” said Ann. 

To assess the information and evidence provided 
by each ‘Lead’ or ‘HAT’ applicant, each school has a 
selection panel comprising the school Principal or 
delegate, an existing Lead teacher within the school as 
well as an experienced educator from outside  
the school. 

ESTHER HARRISON 

ANN ZENKO 

The process made me  
re-evaluate not only what was 
important in my teaching but 

why it was important.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The PMSA consolidated special purpose financial statements are prepared on an 
accrual basis in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.  The reports are 
subject to independent audit and published through the ACNC.

Each of our schools provide financial reporting through the Department of Education and Training.  Financial 
reporting is published through the myschool website.  Funding from parents, supporters and governments  
received in each of our schools is used wholly for the operations and development of that school.
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For I know the plans I have for  
you declares the Lord, plans to  

prosper you and not harm
you, plans to give you  

hope and a future.
JEREMIAH 29: 11

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

In dollars Note
2018
$’000s

2017
$’000s

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3 9,823 6,656

Trade and other receivables 4 2,823 3,459

Inventories 378 203

Prepayments 2,656 1,636

Total current assets 15,680 11,954

Trade and other receivables 4 101 116

Investments 18,622 21,374

Property, plant and equipment 5 505,389 517,023

Total non-current assets 524,112 538,513

Total assets 539,792 550,467

Liabilities

Trade and other payables 6 22,842 23,546

Loans and borrowings 7 7,120 34,270

Employee benefits 8 8,865 8,950

Total current liabilities 38,827 66,766

Trade and other payables 6        155        158

Loans and borrowings 7 31,861 14,459

Employee benefits 8 1,683 1,550

Total non-current liabilities 33,699 16,167

Total liabilities 72,526 82,933

Net assets 467,266 467,534

Equity

Asset revaluation reserve 294,910 303,582 

Retained earnings 172,356 163,952

Total equity 467,266 467,534

The notes on pages 53 to 66 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT & LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

2018
$’000s

2017
$’000s

Tuition fees and levies 94,108       94,692

Boarding fees and levies      8,235        7,810

Government grants – recurrent    32,748       31,589

Bursaries and scholarships     (7,291)       (6,621)

Discounts     (2,405)       (2,682)

Total income from services  125,395     124,788

Donations      1,516        3,837

Interest income        27 37

Gain on disposal of fixed assets          5 9

Managed fund distributions       2,499           1,832

Sundry income      12,812        7,453

Total other income    16,859       13,168

Employee benefits Tuition 61,687       60,366

Boarding      3,777 3,255

Administration    17,444       14,472

Other costs Tuition    11,937       11,352

Boarding      2,624        2,546

Administration    22,951       22,581

Finance costs      1,797        1,961

Depreciation and amortisation    11,633       12,917

Total expenses  133,850     129,450

Profit for the year 8,404 8,506

Other comprehensive income

Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss:

Contribution to development reserve           610 546

Transfer to long service leave provision         (319)            (768)

Net (loss)/gain on revaluation (8,963) 73,557

Other comprehensive (loss)/income (8,672) 73,335

Total comprehensive (loss)/income      (268)        81,841

The notes on pages 53 to 66 are an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

In dollars
Retained earnings 
$’000s

Reserves
$’000s

Total equity
$’000s

Balance at 1 January 2017 155,446             230,247    385,693

Profit for the year 8,506 -           8,506

Contribution to development reserve - 546           546

Transfer to long service leave provision -            (768)          (768)

Net gain on revaluation -          73,557             73,557

Total comprehensive income            8,506 73,335          81,841

Balance at 31 December 2017       163,952      303,582      467,534

Balance at 1 January 2018     163,952        303,582    467,534

Profit for the year          8,404 -           8,404

Contribution to development reserve -           610            610

Transfer to long service leave provision -            (319)        (319)

Net loss on revaluation -        (8,963)       (8,963)

Total comprehensive income 8,404        (8,672) (268)

Balance at 31 December 2018 172,356 294,910 467,266

The notes on pages 53 to 66 are an integral part of these financial statements.



52 PMSA 2018 ANNUAL REPORT 53PMSA 2018 ANNUAL REPORT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

In dollars Note
2018

$’000s
2017

$’000s

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers    111,857   113,194

Donations received 1,144        3,805

Grants received     32,736     31,455

Interest received 34           37

Imputation credits received 179          153

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (126,931) (126,534)

Interest paid     (1,797)     (1,930)

Net cash from operating activities 3     17,222      20,180

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 7 12

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment   (6,282)    (23,199)

Other proceeds from investments      1,969            2,600   

Net cash used in investing activities  (4,306)   (20,587)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings     24,815         27,799

Repayment of borrowings  (33,620)     (34,347)

Payment of finance lease liabilities       (944)            (998)  

Net cash used in financing activities      (9,749)         (7,546)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   3,167           (7,953)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January    6,656     14,609

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 3     9,823      6,656

The notes on pages 53 to 66 are an integral part of these financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Note 1: Basis of preparation

Basis of accounting

The PMSA special purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the recognition, 
measurement and classification aspects of all applicable Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) adopted by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

This is the first set of the Presbyterian and Methodist Schools Association's (Group) financial statements in which 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments have been applied. Changes in accounting policies are described in Note 1(p).

The special purpose financial statements include only the disclosure requirements of the following AASBs and 
those disclosures considered necessary by the Board Members to meet the needs of the Group:

AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements

AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows

AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

AASB 1048 Interpretation of Standards and Application 

AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures.

The financial statements do not comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Historical cost convention
The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis and are 
based on historical costs unless otherwise stated in the notes. 

Currency
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and rounded to the nearest thousand.

Authorisation of the Financial Statements
The financial statements were authorised for issue on 27 May 2019 by the PMSA Board Members.

Accounting Policies

a. Income Tax

The PMSA is a not for profit entity and is exempt from income tax. 

b. Property, Plant and Equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Where an item of property, plant or equipment is acquired 
for no or nominal consideration, the item’s fair value at acquisition date is deemed as its cost.

Property
Freehold land and buildings are shown at their fair value (being the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction) based on cost less 
subsequent depreciation for buildings. An independent assessment of the fair value of land and buildings is 
completed at least once every five (5) years, with the most recent assessment performed in 2017.

Land and buildings are measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation. Any accumulated depreciation 
at revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated 
as the revalued amount of the asset.

A revaluation surplus is credited to other comprehensive income (asset revaluation surplus) unless it reverses 
a revaluation decrease on the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is 
recognised in profit or loss unless it directly offsets a previous revaluation surplus on the same asset in the asset 
revaluation surplus. On disposal, any revaluation surplus relating to sold assets is transferred to accumulated 
surplus.

Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment are measured at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation.
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Note 1: Basis of preparation (continued)

b. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Depreciation 
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets, excluding freehold land, is depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
their useful lives to the Group commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

Class of Fixed Asset  Depreciation Rate

Land and Buildings  2.50%

Swimming Pool             5.00% - 20.00%

Furniture & Equipment  10.00% - 40.00%

Plant and Machinery  10.00% - 33.33%

Fixtures and Fittings  10.00% - 20.00%

Computers    25.00% - 33.00%

Computer Software  33.33% - 40.00%

Library    2.50% - 20.00%

Audio Visual   25.00% - 33.00%

Motor Vehicles   10.00% - 20.00%

Oxley and Corinda   2.50% - 25.00%

At each reporting date, the Board Members review the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment. An 
asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount 
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.  

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains 
or losses are included in the income statement in the year of disposal. When revalued assets are sold, amounts 
included in the revaluation reserve relating to that asset are transferred to accumulated surplus.

c. Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Board Members review the carrying values of its tangible and intangible 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in 
use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable amount 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

Where the future economic benefits of the asset are not primarily dependent upon on the asset’s ability to 
generate net cash inflows and when the entity would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining future 
economic benefits, value in use is determined as the depreciated replacement cost of an asset.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of a class of asset, the entity estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Where an impairment loss on a revalued asset is identified, this is debited against the revaluation surplus in 
respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the 
revaluation surplus for that same class of asset.

d. Trade Receivables

Trade receivables are recognised at original invoice amounts less an allowance for uncollectible amounts. 
Collectability of trade receivables is assessed on an ongoing basis.  Debts known to be uncollectible are written 
off. 

e. Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and current replacement cost.  Inventories acquired at no cost, or 
for nominal consideration, are valued at the current replacement cost as at the date of acquisition.

f. Trade Payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of 
the reporting period and which are unpaid.  These amounts are unsecured and are recognised as a current 
liability, with the amount being normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability

Note 1: Basis of preparation (continued)

g. Employee Benefits

Provision is made for the Group's liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to 
the end of the reporting period as follows:

Short-term employee benefits provisions
Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year have been measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liability is settled, plus related on-costs.  

Long-term employee benefits provisions
The Group's net obligation in respect of long-term service benefits is the amount of future benefit that 
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior reporting periods.  The obligation is 
calculated using the projected unit credit method and is discounted to its present value and the fair value of any 
related assets is deducted.  The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on government bonds that have 
maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group's obligations.   

Contributions are made by the employer to an employee superannuation fund and charged as expenses when 
incurred.

h. Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for 
which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.  
Provisions represent the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation at the end of the 
reporting period.

i. Revenue

Revenue from tuition fees, levies and other receipts from students are recognised upon the delivery of the 
service or goods.

Grant revenue is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the entity obtains control of the 
grant and it is probable that the economic benefits gained from the grant will flow to the entity and the amount 
of the grant can be measured reliably.

If conditions are attached to the grant which must be satisfied before it is eligible to receive the contribution, the 
recognition of the grant as revenue will be deferred until those conditions are satisfied.

When grant revenue is received whereby the entity incurs an obligation to deliver economic value directly 
back to the contributor, this is considered a reciprocal transaction and the grant revenue is recognised in the 
statement of financial position as a liability until the service has been delivered to the contributor, otherwise the 
grant is recognised as income on receipt.

Non-reciprocal contributions of assets from other parties for zero or a nominal value are recognised at fair 
value on the date of acquisition in the statement of financial position, with a corresponding amount of income 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue when received.

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which for floating rate financial assets 
is the rate inherent in the instrument. Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive a dividend has 
been established.

All revenue is stated net of goods and services tax (GST).

j. Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office.  In these circumstances the GST is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.  Receivables and payables in the 
statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of 
investment and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

k. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

Board Members’ estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial report are based on historical results 
and the best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are 
based on current trends and economic data, obtained from both internal and external sources.   
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Note 1: Basis of preparation (continued)  

k. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments (continued)

The Group has assessed the level of parent debtor impairment based upon the occurrence of individual 
impairment events for families and past experience.

Key Estimates
(a) Impairment
 The Group assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluating conditions and events   
 specific to the Group that may be indicative of impairment triggers.  

(b) Property
 As detailed in Note 5, an independent valuation of land and buildings was conducted for the 2017 financial  
 statements.  The Group has assessed the carrying value of its properties in the light of current economic   
 and associated conditions and is satisfied that the carrying values are still appropriate.

l. Leases

Leases of fixed assets, where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset but 
not the legal ownership, that are transferred to the entity are classified as finance leases.

Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts equal to the fair 
value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed 
residual values.  Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest 
expense for the period.

Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the lease 
term.

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are 
charged as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

m. Financial Instruments

(i)   Non‑derivative financial assets and financial liabilities – recognition and derecognition 
The Group initially recognises loans and receivables issued on the date that they are originated. All other 
financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised initially on the trade date.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire. 
Any interest in such transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a 
separate asset or liability.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or 
expire.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle 
them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(ii)   Non‑derivative financial assets – measurement
Financial assets ‑ Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; Fair Value through Other   
Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) - debt investment, FVOCI – equity investment or Fair Value through Profit or   
Loss (FVTPL).

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its   
business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the 
first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL:

• it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

•  its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as 
at FVTPL:

•  it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and 
selling financial assets; and

Note 1: Basis of preparation (continued) 

m. Financial Instruments (continued)

 (ii)   Non‑derivative financial assets – measurement (continued)
Financial assets ‑ Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
• its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to 
present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-
investment basis.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at 
FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate 
a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at 
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Financial assets ‑ Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and   
interest
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial 
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated 
with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and 
costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Group 
considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains 
a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not 
meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Group considers:

• contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

• terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features;

• prepayment and extension features; and

• terms that limit the Group's claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. Non-recourse features).

Financial assets ‑ Subsequent measurement and gains and losses: Policy applicable from 1 January 
2018

Financial assets at FVTPL
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or dividend 
income, are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost
These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amortised 
cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are 
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Debt investments at FVOCI
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using the effective interest 
method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains 
and losses are recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to 
profit or loss.

Equity investments at FVOCI
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in profit or loss 
unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investments. Other net gains and 
losses are recognised in OCI and never reclassified to profit or loss.

n. Impairment

 (i) Non‑derivative financial assets
Financial instruments
The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECLs) on:

• financial assets measured at amortised cost; and

•  debt investments measured at FVOCI.
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Note 1: Basis of preparation (continued) 

n. Impairment (continued)

 (i) Non‑derivative financial assets (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which are 
measured at 12-month ECLs:

•  debt securities that are determined to have low  credit risk at the reporting date; and

• other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the 
expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition 

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is 
relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information 
and analysis, based on the Group's historical experience and informed credit assessment and including 
forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days 
past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

• the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to 
actions such as realising security (if any is held); or

• the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 
instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months 
after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the 
Group is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of 
all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract 
and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount 
of the assets.

For debt securities at FVOCI, the loss allowance is charged to profit or loss and is recognised in OCI.

Write‑off
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no reasonable expectations 
of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. For individual customers, the Group has 
a policy of writing off the gross carrying amount when the financial asset is 180 days past due based on 
historical experience of recoveries of similar assets. For corporate customers, the Group individually makes 
an assessment with respect to the timing and amount of write-off based on whether there is a reasonable 
expectation of recovery. The Group expects no significant recovery from the amount written off. However, 
financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the 
Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due.

o. New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods 
beginning after 1 January 2018, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. 
Those which may be relevant to the Group are set out below. The Group does not plan to adopt these standards 
early.

Note 1: Basis of preparation (continued) 

o. New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet adopted (continued)

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
AASB 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue 
is recognised. It replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, including AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 111 
Construction Contacts and Interpretation 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes.

AASB 15 for Not-for-Profit entities is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2019, with early adoption permitted. The Group currently plans to apply AASB 15 initially on 1 January 2019. 
The Group has not completed an initial assessment of the potential impact of the adoption of AASB 15 on its 
consolidated financial statements. 

(i)  Rendering of services – fees
For services provided, tuition fees, levies and other receipts from students are recognised upon the delivery of 
the service or goods.

(ii)  Grant income and contributions 
AASB 15 generally applies to for-profit entities, however, revenues of Not-for-Profit entities will be recognised in 
accordance with the requirements of this standard where an arrangement:

• is with a customer;

• is an enforceable agreement;

• has identifiable performance obligation(s); and

• is sufficiently specific to identify when the performance obligation(s) are satisfied. 

The Group relies on grants and contributions to fund its operations. If the grants and contributions meet 
the criteria noted above, revenue will be recognised upon completion of the performance obligations in 
accordance with AASB 15.

Where transactions do not meet the requirements noted above, the Group will need to assess if these 
transactions should be accounted for under AASB 1058 Income for Not-for-Profit entities. AASB 1058 
establishes principles for Not-for-Profit entities which will more closely reflect the economic reality of 
transactions that are not contracts with customers, including cash contributions with no performance 
obligations and volunteer services received. AASB 1058 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2019, with early adoption permitted.

The Group has not performed a detailed analysis of contracts with contributors to determine the effect on 
revenue recognition for these transactions.

(iii)  Transition
The Group plans to adopt AASB 15 in its consolidated financial statements for the year ending 31 December 
2019 however, once further analysis has been performed the transition approach will be determined.

The Group will perform an assessment of the impact of the application of AASB 15 and expects to disclose 
additional quantitative information before it adopts AASB 15.

AASB 16 Leases
AASB 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognises a right-
of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation 
to make lease payments. There are optional exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low-value items. 
Lessor accounting remains similar to the current standard — i.e. lessors continue to classify leases as finance or 
operating leases.

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early adoption is permitted 
for entities that apply AASB 15 at or before the date of initial application of AASB 16.

The Group has not started an initial assessment of the potential impact on its consolidated financial 
statements. No significant impact is expected for the Group's finance leases.

Transition
As a lessee, the Group can either apply the standard using a:

• retrospective approach; or

• modified retrospective approach with optional practical expedients.
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Note 1: Basis of preparation (continued) 

o. New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet adopted (continued)

Transition (continued)
The lessee applies the election consistently to all of its leases. The Group currently plans to apply AASB 16 
initially on 1 January 2019. The Group has not yet determined which transition approach to apply. 

The Group has not yet quantified the impact on its reported assets and liabilities of the adoption of AASB 16. 
The quantitative effect will depend on, inter alia, the transition method chosen, the extent to which the Group 
uses the practical expedients and recognition exemptions, and any additional leases that the Group enters 
into. The Group expects to disclose its transition approach and quantitative information before adoption.

p. Changes in Significant Accounting Policies 

The Group has initially applied AASB 9 from 1 January 2018. A number of new standard are also effective from 1 
January 2018 but they do not have a material effect on the Group's financial statements.

Due to the transition methods chosen by the Assoication in applying these standard, comparative information 
throughout these financial statements has not been restated to reflect the requirements of the new standards.

AASB 9 Financial Instruments
AASB 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised cost, 
FVOCI and FVTPL. The classification of financial assets under AASB 9 is generally based on the business model 
in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics. AASB 9 eliminates the 
previous AASB 39 categories of held to maturity, loans and receivables and available for sale. Under AASB 9, 
derivatives embedded in contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope of the standard are never 
separated. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument as a whole is assessed for classification. 

AASB 9 largely retains the existing requirements in AASB 39 for the classification and measurement of 
financial liabilities. 

The adoption of AASB 9 has not had a significant effect on the Group's accounting policies related to financial 
liabilities and derivative financial instruments.

The following table and the accompanying notes below explain the original measurement categories under 
AASB 39 and the new measurement categories under AASB 9 for each class of the Group's financial assets and 
financial liabilities as at 1 January 2018

Original classification 

under AASB 139

New classification under 

AASB 9

Original carrying 

value amount under 

AASB 139

$’000s

New carrying amount 

under AASB 9

$’000s

Cash and cash 
equivalents

Loans and 
receivables

Amortised cost 6,656 6,656

Trade and other 
receivables

Loans and 
receivables

Amortised cost 3,575
3,575

Investments – Debt
Available-for-
sale 

FOCI – debt 
instrument

2,284
2,284

Investments – Equity Available-for-sale
FOCI – equity 
instrument

19,090
19,090

Trade and other 
payables

Other financial 
liabilities 

Other financial 
liabilities

23,704
23,704

Loans
Other financial 
liabilities 

Other financial 
liabilities

48,729 48,729

Note 1: Basis of preparation (continued) 

q. Going Concern

As detailed in the Statement of Financial Position, the Group has an excess of current liabilities over current 
assets of $23.147 million (2017: $54.812 million). Notwithstanding these circumstances, the financial report has 
been prepared on a going concern basis as the Board Members have determined that the Group can continue 
to operate as a going concern. The Board Members are of the view that the effect of the following mitigating 
factors will allow the Group to continue to meet its debts as and when they fall due:

• An expectation of continued receipts from tuition fees and government grants;

• An expectation of continued generation of operating cash flow surpluses by the Group;

 – Current liabilities include annual leave provision of $1.523 million and long service leave provision of 
$7.342 million for which full settlement in cash is not expected in the following reporting period;

 – Current liabilities include prepaid fees of $15.711 million for which there is no settlement due in the 
following reporting period as it represents cash received in advance for 2019 school fees; and

• Included in the operating profit are non-cash expenses relating to depreciation of $11.633 million;

No adjustments have been made relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts 
and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the company not continue as a going concern.

r. Fair Value

Fair values may be used for financial asset and liability measurement as well as for sundry disclosures. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. It is based on the presumption that the transaction 
takes places either in the principle market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal market, in the 
most advantageous market. The principle or most advantageous market must be accessible to, or by, the Group. 

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or 
liability, assuming that market participants act in their best economic interest. 

The fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account the market participant’s ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset at its highest and best use or by selling it to another market 
participant that would use the asset at its highest and best use. 

In measuring fair value, the Group uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of observable inputs and 
minimise the use of unobservable inputs. 

s. Basis of Consolidation

Subsidiaries
The consolidated financials comprise the financial statements of the Presbyterian Methodist Schools 
Association and Grammar Early Learning Limited at 31 December 2018. 

All inter-entity balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intragroup transactions 
have been eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the 
impairment of the asset transferred. 

List of Presbyterian Methodist Schools Association Schools
• Somerville House

• Brisbane Boys’ College

• Clayfield College

• Sunshine Coast Grammar School
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2018
$’000s

2017
$’000s

2 Auditor’s Remuneration

In dollars

Remuneration of auditors 164 125

3 Cash and cash equivalents

In dollars

Bank balances 9,722 3,755

Call deposits 101 2,901

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 9,823 6,656

Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit 8,404 8,506

Adjustments for:

– Depreciation          11,633       12,917

– Bad debts provided for or written off -             (44)

– Donated capital equipment              (372)           (18)

– Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment              (5)             (4)

– Loss on sale of investments        (2) -

– Other asset write-downs 748 28

– Net LSL contributions / (payments)            273            (235)

– Net sale of shares / reinvestments           (2,254)          (1,679)

18,425       19,471

Changes in:

– Decrease/(Increase) Trade and other receivables              651          (216)

– (Increase)/Decrease Other assets           (1,195)             172

– (Decrease)/Increase Trade and other payables         (707)          593

– Increase Employee benefits 48                     160

Net cash from operating activities 17,222       20,180

4 Trade and other receivables

In dollars

Current         1,312        1,311

Trade receivables           (566)          (566)

Provision for impairment of trade receivables         2,077        2,714 

Other receivables         2,823        3,459

Non-Current         101 116

Other receivables         101 116

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Note
2018

$’000s
2017

$’000s

5 Property, plant and equipment

In dollars

Land and buildings, at fair value (a)     489,040     489,931 

Acquisitions, at cost       2,490       299 

Accumulated depreciation      (6,602)      (182)

484,928         490,048 

Swimming Pool, at fair value (a) 709           709

Acquisitions, at cost 23             16

Accumulated depreciation           (28)            (8)

704           717

Furniture and equipment, at fair value (a) 299 299

Acquisitions, at cost       13,159        12,423

Accumulated depreciation        (10,393)       (9,458)

3,065        3,264

Plant and machinery, at fair value (a) 581 585

Acquisitions, at cost       16,185       14,942

Accumulated depreciation      (13,966)      (12,215)

        2,800        3,312

Fixtures and fittings, at cost         1,779        1,746

Accumulated depreciation        (1,570)       (1,462)

209                     284

Computers, at cost         2,091        2,068

Accumulated depreciation        (1,808)          (1,698)

           283 370

Computer software, at cost 254           254

Accumulated depreciation           (201)          (165)

53 89

Library, at fair value (a)         4,510 4,510

Acquisitions, at cost         2,889        2,776

Accumulated depreciation        (2,814)       (2,616)

        4,585        4,670
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Note
2018

$’000s
2017

$’000s

5 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Audio Visual, at cost 543 418

Accumulated depreciation (296) (202)

247 216

Motor vehicles, at cost 716 716

Accumulated depreciation (587) (537)

129 179

Oxley and Corinda, at fair value (a) 4,703        4,703 

Acquisitions, at cost 628 582

Accumulated depreciation        (581)       (551)

4,750 4,734

Capital work in progress         2,426        7,994

Artwork, at fair value (b)         1,210           1,146

Total property, plant and equipment, at cost       43,183       44,234

Total property, plant and equipment, fair value     501,052     501,883

    544,235     546,117

Total accumulated depreciation      (38,846)      (29,094)

Total carrying amount     505,389     517,023

(a)   Property, Plant and Equipment Revaluation - 2017
In December of 2017, independent valuations were carried out on all items of land, buildings and site 
improvements.  These were all revalued in the financial statements at 31 December 2017 based on these 
independent valuations, and were adjusted against the asset revaluation reserve.  

(b)  Artwork – based on 2017 independent valuation

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Note
2018

$’000s
2017

$’000s

6 Trade and other payables

In dollars

Current 

Trade payables 3,397        785 

Prepaid fees       15,711       16,255

Other payables and accrued expenses 3,734        6,506

      22,842 23,546

Non-current

Holding Deposits             10 10

Other payables & accrued expenses            145 148

155 158

7 Loans and borrowings  

In dollars

Current

Leases 559 950

Bank Loans       6,319 33,124

Equipment Loans 42 136

Related parties 200 60

      7,120 34,270

Non-current

Leases 270 829

Bank Loans       31,591       13,490

Related Parties -           140

      31,861 14,459

8 Employee benefits 

In dollars

Current

Annual leave          1,523        1,450

Long service leave         7,342        7,500

8,865        8,950 

Non-current

Long service leave         1,683        1,550

        1,683        1,550
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

9 Capital and reserves          
  
 (a)  Nature and purpose of reserves    

 

 (i)  Asset revaluation reserve     

 The asset revaluation reserve relates to land and buildings and artwork measured at fair value in accordance  
 with applicable Australian Accounting Standards.  

     

10 Contingent liabilities        
 

 Pursuant to the conditions attached to Commonwealth and State Government capital grants made to the  
 Group via the Block Grant Authority, the Group is contingently liable to repay, based on a formula,    
 all or part of the grants received if the project to which the funds are applied ceases to be used for the   
 purpose approved or is sold or otherwise disposed of within 20 years of completion of the project.

 The PMSA Board is of the opinion that the Group will continue in its current capacity and therefore no   
 material liability is likely to materialise.           
  

11 Events after the reporting date     
 

 There has not been any matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of financial year that   
 has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Group, the results of those   
 operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years.

 The financial report was authorised for issue on the date the Board Members signed the declaration on   
 page 66.

BOARD MEMBERS’ DECLARATION

In the opinion of the Board Members of Presbyterian and Methodist Schools Association:

(a)    the Group is not publicly accountable nor a reporting entity;

(b)    the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 49 to 66, are in accordance with the Australian   
 Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including:

 (i)  giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018 and of    
 its performance, as represented by the results of its operations for the financial year ended on that date in   
 accordance with the basis of preparation described in Note 1; and

 ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations)   
 to the extent described in Note 1, and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation   
 2013; and

(c)     there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when they   
 become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board Members:

Chairman of Board 

GREGORY RONALD ADSETT

Dated at Brisbane this third day of June 2019.

Chairman of Audit, Finance and Risk Committee 

GREGORY DAVID SKELTON

Dated at Brisbane this third day of June 2019. 
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